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PART I  

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.  

GSE Systems, Inc. ("GSE Systems" or the "Company") designs, develops and delivers business and technology solutions by applying process 
control, data acquisition, simulation, client/server, and business software, systems and services to energy, process, and manufacturing industries 
worldwide. The Company develops and utilizes high fidelity real-time process control, data acquisition, and business software, along with third 
party "best of breed" products, to gather, store and display information, and monitor and control manufacturing and distribution processes. GSE 
Systems applies open systems client/server hardware, "best of breed" software, supply chain logistics expertise and a rapid application software 
methodology to solve clients' business organization and information needs. The Company utilizes its proprietary high fidelity real-time 
simulation products to replicate all or a portion of the process function of a power or industrial plant. GSE Systems utilizes its technologies and 
applications expertise to provide cost effective, easy to use software and systems for enterprise-wide industrial business solutions, thereby 
assisting its customers in improving product quality and throughput, reducing operating expenses, and enhancing overall productivity.  

The Company's products are used in over 700 applications, representing over 250 customers in 30 countries, in the following industries: 
specialty chemical, food & beverage, petroleum refining, oil & gas pipelines, pharmaceutical, fossil and nuclear power generation, metals and 
water treatment. GSE Systems' customers include, among others, Algonquin Gas Transmission Company, Alyeska Pipeline Service Company, 
Archer Daniels Midland Company, BASF Corporation, Cargill Incorporated, Exxon Company USA, Kraftwerks Simulator Gesellschaft 
(Germany), Merck and Company, MEDICODE, Miller Brewing Company, Novell, PECO Energy, Tokyo Electric Power Company (Japan) 
and USX-US Steel Group. The Company has over 20 years of experience in developing systems and has a unique insight into the needs of its 
customers in the energy, process and manufacturing industries which is reflected in its wide range of quality products, as well as its 
commitment to customer service.  

Recent Developments.  

Acquisition of Erudite Software & Consulting, Inc. On May 22, 1996, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of 
Erudite Software & Consulting, Inc. now doing business as GSE Erudite Software, Inc. ("Erudite Software"), a leading provider of cost-
effective client/server solutions through providing custom application software development, training services, hardware-software product sales 
and network design and implementation services.  

Erudite Software is headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah, with a primary development facility in Provo, Utah, and has approximately 160 
employees. This acquisition was accomplished through a merger of Erudite  

3  



GSE SYSTEMS, INC.  

FORM 10-K  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996  

Software & Consulting, Inc. into a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Approximately 840,700 shares of the Company's Common Stock 
were exchanged for all outstanding shares of capital stock of Erudite Software. The acquisition has been accounted for using the pooling-of-
interests method of accounting.  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared to give retroactive effect to the acquisition of Erudite 
Software on May 22, 1996. All prior period historical consolidated financial statements presented herein have been restated to include the 
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of Erudite Software.  

Costs related to the acquisition, which consist primarily of investment banking fees, legal and accounting expenses, and compensation expense 
for the shares issued to employees by the owners of Erudite Software pursuant to stock transfer agreements, amounted to approximately $1.2 
million and have been charged to operating expenses in the second and fourth quarters of 1996.  

Background.  

GSE Systems was formed on April 13, 1994 by ManTech International Corporation ("ManTech"), National Patent Development Corporation 
("NPDC") and its affiliates, General Physics Corporation ("GPC") and GPS Technologies, Inc. ("GPS"); and Vattenfall AB ("Vattenfall") to 
consolidate the simulation and related businesses of their affiliates, GSE Power Systems, Inc. ("Power Systems" and formerly known as 
"Simulation, Systems & Services Technologies Company" or "S3 Technologies"), GP International Engineering & Simulation, Inc. ("GPI") 
and GSE Power Systems AB ("Power Systems AB" and formerly known as "EuroSim AB" or "EuroSim"). On December 30, 1994, GSE 
Systems expanded into the process control automation and supply chain management consulting industry through its acquisition of the process 
systems division of Texas Instruments Incorporated ("TI"), which the Company operates as GSE Process Solutions, Inc. ("Process Solutions").  

In April 1996, the Company aligned its operating groups into three strategic business units (SBU) to better serve its primary vertical markets - 
Power, Process Industries and Oil & Gas. The realignment allowed the Company to focus on providing all of its technologies to these markets, 
while addressing the specific needs of each market and delivering industry specific solutions.  

On May 22, 1996, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Erudite Software, a leading provider of cost-effective 
client/server technology through providing custom application software development, training services, hardware-software sales, and network 
design and implementation. Erudite Software was combined with a small consulting group to form the Company's Business Systems unit.  

Power Systems, GPI, Power Systems AB and Erudite Software are collectively referred to as the "Predecessors" with respect to all periods 
between January 1, 1992 and April 13, 1994.  

The efforts of the Company are focused on the energy and process manufacturing industries. These include the specialty chemical, food & 
beverage, petroleum refining, oil & gas, pharmaceutical, fossil and nuclear power generation, metals and water treatment industries. Other 
associated industries include environmental control and wastewater processing.  

During the 1980s, these industries applied multiple, discrete point solutions for the management, planning, execution and control of their 
businesses. Typical solutions included quality improvement, documentation management, supervisory and process control, work in process and 
maintenance management. The early 1990s brought about the integration of the total enterprise from business systems to the factory floor. The 
software layer  
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used to connect business systems with the plant floor was termed a manufacturing execution system ("MES"). This integration utilized 
independent computing platforms, operating systems, interfaces and databases, and typically relied on proprietary hardware and software. In 
addition, enterprise resource planning ("ERP") systems emerged to address corporate planning, asset management, finance and accounting 
functions at the business level.  

The process manufacturing industries are now being driven by market forces to implement total business automation strategies. Competitive 
pressures now require lowest delivered cost, increased product innovation and quality, quicker time to market, shorter cycle times, as well as 
improved asset management, and production flexibility. Suppliers are looking to both increase their customer responsiveness and lower costs 
by using new computer systems technologies. The Company's client/server-based open systems, the reduction of computing hardware costs, 
and the proliferation of object-oriented software development technology facilitate this rapid technological evolution.  

BUSINESS STRATEGY  

Today's buyers of industrial computer and automation systems are being driven by several converging forces. First, the systems that they buy 
need to provide quicker and more demonstrable benefits. These benefits range from optimization of the production process to automation of 
customer fulfillment systems. Second, low-cost computer hardware and software technology are now making it possible for industrial users to 
more quickly develop low cost custom solutions to meet their specific operating needs. Third, the proliferation of open systems technology is 
enabling firms to more quickly respond to the marketplace by communicating customer requirements across the entire enterprise. Fourth, these 
systems must be easy to implement and use since the industrial users of these systems have reduced their in-house capability to manage these 
systems. The process industries such as chemical, food, pharmaceutical, power and oil & gas, are developing their strategy for acquiring these 
types of systems around their need for total solutions that incorporate the plant system infrastructure, which often includes some type of 
distributed control system ("DCS"), a local and wide area network and some sort of business system.  

GSE Systems plans to utilize its current expertise in the industrial processes of the process industries, its detailed knowledge of the computer 
system infrastructure used and needed by these industries, its value added proprietary technology in the control system and simulation arenas 
and its ability to rapidly and cost effectively develop client/server solutions to provide cost-effective and easy to use systems that add near term 
value to their customers' operations. The Company's strategy is based on the need for its solutions to be based on a foundation of a fully 
developed set of services that include needs analysis, integration, implementation, maintenance, training, support, responsive field engineering, 
as well as consulting. These services must be located within reasonable reach of the customer, reasonably priced and managed to produce a 
quality product. The Company plans to continue to seek acquisitions of other companies that will expand its product and service offerings as 
well as its geographical reach. The Company believes that it must have strong solutions partners as well as strong technology partners in order 
for it to address the myriad of systems needs of its customers in the various geographical areas in which they do business.  

SERVICES AND PRODUCTS.  

GSE Systems has a wide range of knowledge of industrial systems and the industrial processes those systems are intended to help improve. 
This knowledge extends from the enterprise wide business systems such as ERP systems to the real time plant floor control systems. The 
Company's knowledge is concentrated heavily in the process industries, which include chemical, food, pharmaceutical, power and oil & gas. 
The Company's proprietary  
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products include a DCS system that is highly flexible and open and a family of real-time dynamic simulation tools. Currently the Company is 
moving its key technologies to the Microsoft Windows NT(R) operating environment. The service capabilities include, among other things, a 
very strong client/server solutions capability that uses a well defined and proven methodology designed to bring high quality results quickly.  

GSE Systems offers a number of proprietary control system products. Its DCS system is called D/3 DCS(TM). This system is a real-time 
system which uses multiple process control modules to monitor, measure, and automatically control variables in both continuous and complex 
batch processes. Other products include the following: FlexBatch(R), a flexible batch manufacturing system used to facilitate the rapid creation 
of various batch production processes; TotalVision(TM), which is a graphical system that provides a client/server- based human machine 
interface for real-time process and plant information; and SABL(TM), which is a sophisticated batch and sequential manufacturing software 
language that permits the scheduling and tracking of raw materials and finished products, data collection and emergency shutdown procedures.  

The Company's proprietary technology also includes real-time dynamic simulation tools and products that are used to develop high fidelity 
simulations for nuclear and fossil power plants, petroleum refineries, oil & gas pipelines, chemical processing plants and other industrial plants. 
This technology is both licensed by GSE Systems to its customers as well as used by the Company to develop simulations for its customers. 
The most prominent products and tools are known as SimSuite Pro(TM), SimSuite Pipeline(TM) and SimSuite Power(TM). Each of these tools 
facilitates design verification, process optimization and operator training.  

In addition to possessing the requisite training, field engineering, maintenance and support services, the Company believes it has a unique 
strength in its ability to cost effectively and quickly deliver high quality client/server solutions. This unique capability includes strong skills in 
both the client side of system development using the new rapid application development tools such as Visual Basic, Delphi, Powerbuilder and 
Oracle's Developer 2000, as well as the server side of the system, using Oracle, Microsoft's SQL Server and Sybase. The Company has a very 
strong network design, implementation and integration capability, as well as the ability to certify customers in the latest network technology. 
The Company's capabilities in this area also include internet and intranet solutions. One other particular strength is the Company's ability to 
provide supply chain consulting services that are designed to add near term value by reengineering the customer's business functions such as 
purchasing. The Company also has an ERP implementation group.  

The Company's ability to support its multi-facility, international and/or multinational clients, is facilitated by its network of offices throughout 
the U.S. and overseas. Within the U.S., the Company maintains offices in Columbia, Maryland, South Jordan and Provo, Utah, Phoenix, 
Arizona, Shelby, North Carolina, Augusta, Georgia, Baton Rouge, Louisiana, Houston, Texas, and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Outside the U.S., 
the Company has offices in Nykoping, Sweden, Brussels, Belgium, Singapore, Taipei, Taiwan and Seoul, Korea. In addition to its offices 
located overseas, the Company's ability to conduct international business is enhanced by its multilingual and multicultural work force.  

CUSTOMERS.  

The Company has provided over 700 simulation, process control and data acquisition, and business systems to an installed base of over 250 
customers worldwide. In 1996, approximately 50% of the Company's worldwide revenue was generated from customers outside the United 
States. No individual customer represented more than 10% of 1996 revenue.  
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STRATEGIC ALLIANCES.  

In recent years, a high portion of the Company's international simulation business has come from major contracts in Europe, the republics of 
the former Soviet Union and the Pacific Rim. In order to acquire and perform these contracts, the Company entered into strategic alliances or 
partnerships with entities including: Siemens AG (Europe), All Russian Research Institute for Nuclear Power Plant Operation (Russia), 
Kurchatov Institute (Russia), Samsung Electronics (Korea), Toyo Engineering Corporation (Japan), and Institute for Information Industry 
(Taiwan). These alliances have enabled the Company to penetrate work in these regions by combining its technological expertise with the 
regional or local presence and knowledge of its partners.  

In addition, the Company maintains strategic alliances with many major suppliers and business partners in support of its open systems and 
"best of breed" strategy. GSE Systems maintains key alliances with software and technology suppliers such as Microsoft, Borland, Sybase, 
Novell, Oracle and QAD, Inc. In addition, distribution agreements with Hewlett Packard, IBM and Hamilton Hallmark assure support for 
projects that require hardware as part of the scope of supply. The Company also maintains training and support certifications with many of its 
partners.  

SALES AND MARKETING.  

The Company markets its products and services through a network of direct sales staff, agents and representatives, systems integrators and 
strategic alliance partners. The Company also maintains an active marketing organization that supports corporate advertising, literature 
development and exhibit/conference participation.  

GSE Systems employs a direct sales force in the continental United States which is regionally based, market focused and trained on its product 
and service offerings. Market oriented business and customer development teams define and implement specific campaigns to pursue 
opportunities in the power, process, client/server solutions marketplaces. This effort is supported by an extensive, regionally based Life Cycle 
Support organization focused on the current customer installed base. The Company maintains its relationships with customers through offices 
located in Columbia, Maryland; South Jordan and Provo, Utah; Phoenix, Arizona; Shelby, North Carolina; Augusta, Georgia; Baton Rouge, 
Louisiana; Houston, Texas; and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.  

Internationally, GSE Systems maintains direct sales staff and customer support capability in Belgium, Sweden, Germany, Japan, Taiwan, 
Korea, and Singapore. Strategic alliance partners, systems integrators and agents represent the Company's interests in Russia, Germany, 
Switzerland, Spain, Czech Republic, Slovakia, United Arab Emirates, India, South Africa, Venezuela, Mexico, Argentina, and the Peoples 
Republic of China.  
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INDUSTRIES SERVED.  

The following chart illustrates the approximate percentage of the Company's 1996 revenues attributable to each of the major industries served 
by the Company:  

 

CONTRACT BACKLOG.  

The Company is transitioning away from its former reliance on the development of large application systems having multi-year delivery 
schedules, such as full-scope nuclear power plant simulators, and toward a concentration on smaller, more short duration jobs. For example, the 
Company's growing client/server business does not maintain a significant backlog because most of its customer contracts are of a time-and-
material nature. Nevertheless, the success of the Company's simulation business remains dependent on its ability to maintain an adequate 
backlog of work.  

The Company does not reflect an order in backlog until it has received a contract which specifies the terms and milestone delivery dates. As of 
December 31, 1996, the Company's aggregate contract backlog totaled approximately $35.2 million of which the Company anticipates revenue 
of approximately $24.4 million in 1997. At December 31, 1995, contract backlog totaled $60.1 million.  

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT  

The Company believes that its success will depend in large part on its ability to maintain and enhance its current product line, develop new 
products, maintain technological competitiveness and meet an expanding range of customer needs.  

The Company's research and development activities are aimed at the development and expansion of its library of software modeling tools, the 
improvement of its display systems and workstation technologies, and the advancement and upgrading of its simulation, process control and 
data acquisition technologies. The life cycles for software modeling tools, display system software, process control, data acquisition and 
simulation technologies are variable and largely determined by competitive pressures. Consequently, the Company will continue to make 
significant investments in research and development to enhance and expand its capabilities in these areas and to maintain its competitive 
advantage.  

In 1996, the Company continued investment in the latest version of its FlexBatch(R) recipe and process management system, the productization 
of software tools, and the conversion of the Company's principal products to the Microsoft Windows NT(R) platform. During the years ended 
December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994, gross research and product development expenditures for the Predecessors and the Company were $5.8 
million, $4.6 million and $1.7 million, respectively. Capitalized software development costs totaled $3.9 million, $1.6 million and $0 during 
the years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994. See Note 2 of "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" for a discussion of the 
Company's policy regarding capitalization of software development costs.  
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COMPETITION  

The Company's businesses operate in highly competitive environments with both domestic and foreign competitors, many of whom have 
substantially greater financial, marketing and other resources than the Company. The principal factors affecting competition include price, 
technological proficiency, ease of system configuration, product reliability, applications expertise, engineering support, local presence and 
financial stability. The Company believes that competition in the simulation and process automation fields may further intensify in the future as 
a result of advances in technology, consolidations and/or strategic alliances among competitors, increased costs required to develop new 
technology and the increasing importance of software content in systems and products. The Company believes that its technology leadership, 
experience, ability to provide a wide variety of solutions, product support and related services, open architecture and international alliances will 
allow it to compete effectively in these markets. However, due to the significant international component of the Company's business, an 
increase in the value of the dollar could adversely affect the Company's ability to compete internationally.  

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS.  

Although the Company believes that factors such as the technological and creative skills of its personnel, new product developments, frequent 
product enhancements and reliable product maintenance are important to establishing and maintaining a technological leadership position, the 
Company's business depends, in part, on its intellectual property rights in its proprietary technology and information. The Company relies upon 
a combination of trade secret, copyright, patent and trademark law, contractual arrangements and technical means to protect its intellectual 
property rights. The Company generally enters into confidentiality agreements with its employees, consultants, joint venture and alliance 
partners, customers and other third parties that are granted access to its proprietary information, and generally limits access to and distribution 
of its proprietary information. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company has protected or will be able to protect its proprietary 
technology and information adequately, that the unauthorized disclosure or use of the Company's proprietary information will be prevented, 
that others have not or will not develop similar technology or information independently, or, to the extent the Company owns patents, that 
others have not or will not be able to design around those patents. Furthermore, the laws of certain countries in which the Company's products 
are sold do not protect the Company's products and intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States.  

EMPLOYEES.  

As of February 28, 1997, the Company had approximately 610 employees. GSE Systems' operations are dependent on the efforts of its 
technical personnel and its senior management. Thus, recruiting and retaining capable personnel, particularly engineers, computer scientists and 
other personnel with expertise in computer software and hardware, as well as particular customer processes are critical to the continued growth 
of the Company. Competition for qualified technical and management personnel is substantial. Certain of the Company's senior executives are 
subject to employment agreements which include non-competition covenants. Although the Company's other key personnel are not subject to 
long-term employment or non-competition agreements, they are subject to standard confidentiality agreements.  

The Company considers its relations with its employees to be good.  
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.  

GSE Systems maintains its headquarters and leases a facility of approximately 154,000 square feet in Columbia, Maryland. In addition, the 
Company also leases office space domestically in Phoenix, Arizona; Augusta, Georgia; Baton Rouge, Louisiana; Houston, Texas; Pittsburgh, 
Pennsylvania; Shelby, North Carolina; Provo, Utah; and South Jordan, Utah, as well as in Belgium, Japan, Korea, Singapore, Sweden and 
Taiwan. The Company leases its facilities for terms ending between 1997 and 2002.  

The Company concluded its lease for facilities in Hunt Valley, Maryland and relocated the affected operations to its Columbia, Maryland 
facility during the fourth quarter of 1996.  

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.  

In January 1997, GSE Power Systems, Inc. filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland in Baltimore against J.L. Ryan, 
Inc., of Columbia, Maryland, Yankee Atomic Electric Co., of Bolton, Massachusetts, and North Coast Software Inc., of Oswego, New York, 
among others. In the suit, Power Systems alleges that the defendants committed copyright infringement, misappropriation of trade secrets, false 
designation of origin under the Lanham Act, breach of contract and unfair competition. The subject matter of the suit is the defendants' use of a 
simulation executive system which Power Systems believes to be an infringement of its simulation executive product. The Company cannot 
reasonably predict the likely outcome of this suit at this time.  

Various other actions and proceedings are presently pending to which the Company is a party. In the opinion of management, the aggregate 
liabilities, if any, arising from such actions are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Company.  

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY  HOLDERS.  

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended December 31, 1996.  
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PART II  

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED STOCKHOLDER  

MATTERS.  

The Company's Common Stock began trading on the Nasdaq National Market System under the Symbol "GSES" effective July 27, 1995. Prior 
to that date, there was no public market for the Common Stock. The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sale 
prices for the Common Stock reported by the Nasdaq National Market System.  

 

 

There were approximately 58 holders of record of the Common Stock as of March 7, 1997. Based upon information available to it, the 
Company believes there are approximately 600 beneficial holders of the Common Stock. The Company has never declared or paid a cash 
dividend on its Common Stock. The Company currently intends to retain future earnings to finance the growth and development of its business, 
and therefore does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.  

The Company believes factors such as quarterly fluctuations in results of operations and announcements of new products by the Company or 
by its competitors may cause the market price of the Common Stock to fluctuate, perhaps significantly. In addition, in recent years the stock 
market in general, and the shares of technology companies in particular, have experienced extreme price fluctuations. The Company's Common 
Stock has also experienced a relatively low trading volume, making it further susceptible to extreme price fluctuations. These factors may 
adversely affect the market price of the Company's Common Stock.  

On February 23, 1996, in exchange for services, the Company granted stock options to two consultants to acquire 10,000 shares of Common 
Stock in the aggregate at an exercise price of $14.00. These grants were not made pursuant to the Company's 1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan. 
Such transactions were exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to Section 4(2) 
thereunder.  
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                           1995                                   HIGH              LOW 
Third Quarter (from July 27, 1995)................. ......       $ 16 3/4            $ 14  
Fourth Quarter..................................... ......       $ 14 3/4            $ 14  

                           1996                                   HIGH                LOW 
First Quarter...................................... ......       $ 16                $ 13 1/4  
Second Quarter..................................... ......       $ 17 3/4            $ 12 
Third Quarter...................................... ......       $ 14 7/8            $  9 1/4  
Fourth Quarter..................................... ......       $ 11 3/4            $  6 1/2  



GSE SYSTEMS, INC.  

FORM 10-K  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996  

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.  

The following tables present selected unaudited combined financial data of Power Systems, GPI, Power Systems AB and Erudite Software, 
collectively the "Predecessors" for periods prior to April 14, 1994, with respect to the periods beginning January 1, 1992 through April 13, 
1994 and of the Company for periods after April 13, 1994. Historical results of the Company from April 13, 1994 through December 31, 1994 
include the operations of Power Systems, GPI, Power Systems AB and Erudite Software. The balance sheet data of the Company as of 
December 31, 1994 includes the Predecessors and Process Solutions which was acquired on December 30, 1994, except for certain 
international operations of the TI process systems business which were acquired by the Company in the second quarter of 1995. Historical 
results of operations and balance sheet data for 1996 and 1995 include the Predecessors and Process Solutions. The financial information has 
been derived from the historical financial statements of Power Systems, GPI, Power Systems AB, Erudite Software and the Company. Erudite 
Software was acquired on May 22, 1996 through a merger. The merger was accounted for by using the pooling of interests method. 
Accordingly the Company's and Predecessors' financial statements have been restated to include on a historical cost basis the accounts and 
operations of Erudite Software for all periods presented.  
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(1) Historical results of operations and balance sheet data for the Predecessors include the combined results of operations and the combined 
balances on a historical cost basis of Power Systems (as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bicoastal Corporation until August 31, 1993 and of 
ManTech thereafter), GPI, Power Systems AB and Erudite Software.  

(2) Statement of operations data for the period April 14 through December 31, 1994 include the results of operations of the Company and its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries Power Systems, GPI, Power Systems AB and Erudite Software. Balance sheet data as of December 31, 1994 also 
includes the domestic operations of Process Solutions, which was acquired on December 30, 1994.  

(3) Statement of operations data for the year ended December 31, 1995 and 1996 includes the operations of Power Systems, GPI, Power 
Systems AB, Erudite Software and the domestic operations of Process Solutions and the international operations of Process Solutions, 
substantially all of which the Company acquired in the second quarter of 1995. Balance sheet data as of December 31, 1995 and 1996 includes 
Power Systems, GPI, Power Systems AB, Erudite Software and the domestic and international operations of Process Solutions.  
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                                                         PREDECESSORS (1)                                 COMPANY 
                                                   --------------------------               ---------- --------------------------  
                                                                         JAN. 1          APR. 14 
                                            YEAR EN DED DECEMBER 31,      THROUGH         THROUGH        YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                            ------- ----------------      APRIL 13,       DEC. 31        ----------------------- 
                                              1992           1993          1994         1994 (2)       1995 (3)        1996 (3) 
                                              ----           ----          ----         --------       --------        -------- 
                                                                    (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DA TA) 
Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenues .................................   $48,72 2        $ 50,242      $ 14,659      $ 37,085      $  96,060       $  96,033 
Cost of revenue...........................    43,03 3          45,656        10,380        27,932         65,592          63,679 
                                             ------ -        ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------      ----------  
   Gross profit...........................     5,68 9           4,586         4,279         9,153         30,468          32,354 
Operating expenses: 
   Selling, general and administrative....    10,67 4          11,342         2,628         6,313         21,815          24,192 
   Depreciation and amortization .........       85 9           1,041           420         1,125          2,341           2,111 
   Business combination costs.............        - -              --            --            --             --           1,206 
                                             ------ -        ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------      ----------  
      Total operating expenses                11,53 3          12,383         3,048         7,438         24,156          27,509 
                                             ------ -        ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------      ----------  
Operating income (loss) ..................    (5,84 4)         (7,797)        1,231         1,715          6,312           4,845 
 
Interest expense .........................       42 6              48            41           402            983             387 
Other expense (income), net...............       (5 4)             57           (43)         (192)          (364)           (394)  
                                             ------ -        ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------      ----------  
Income (loss) before income taxes.........    (6,21 6)         (7,902)        1,233         1,505          5,693           4,852 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes......      (37 1)           (849)          678           552          2,017             709 
Cumulative effect of accounting change....       13 3              --            --            --             --              -- 
                                             ------ -        ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------      ----------  
Net income (loss) ........................   $(5,97 8)       $ (7,053)        $ 555      $    953      $   3,676       $   4,143 
                                             ====== =        =========     =========     ==========    ==========      ==========  
Earnings per common share ................                                              $   0.26      $    0.91       $    0.82 
                                                                                        ==========    ==========      ==========  
Weighted average common shares 
  outstanding.............................                                                 3,341          4,059           5,073 
                                                                                        ==========    ==========      ==========  

                                               AS O F DECEMBER 31,             AS OF               AS O F DECEMBER 31, 
                                               ---- --------------           APRIL 13,      ----------- ----------------------- 
                                              1992             1993           1994         1994          1995            1996 
                                              ----             ----           ----         ----          ----            ---- 
Working capital ..........................   $10,28 6         ($2,039)        ($434)       $1,269        $16,077         $13,867  
Total assets .............................    32,40 7          29,588        35,655        42,312         54,688          51,006  
Long-term liabilities ....................     8,52 1          10,326        15,570        15,783          6,055           2,580  
Series A Preferred Stock .................        - -              --            --         2,400             --              --  
Stockholders' equity (deficit) ...........    11,81 5          (3,128)       (2,563)       (4,229)        20,532          24,693  
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RES ULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION.  

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS.  

This Form 10-K contains certain "forward-looking statements," within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, 
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which are subject to the safe harbors created by those Acts. These 
statements include the plans and objectives of management for future operations, including plans and objectives relating to the development of 
the Company's business in the domestic and international marketplace. All forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, 
including, without limitation, risks relating to the Company's ability to enhance existing software products and to introduce new products in a 
timely and cost-effective manner, reduced development of nuclear power plants that may utilize the Company's products, a long pay-back cycle 
from the investment in software development, uncertainties regarding the ability of the Company to grow its revenues and successfully 
integrate operations through expansion of its existing business and strategic acquisitions, the ability of the Company to respond adequately to 
rapid technological changes in the markets for process control, data acquisition and simulation software and systems, significant quarter-to-
quarter volatility in revenues and earnings as a result of customer purchasing cycles and other factors, dependence upon key personnel, and 
general market conditions and competition. The forward-looking statements included herein are based on current expectations that involve 
numerous risks and uncertainties as set forth herein, the failure of any one of which could materially adversely affect the operations of the 
Company. The Company's plans and objectives are also based on the assumptions that market conditions and competitive conditions within the 
Company's business areas will not change materially or adversely and that there will be no material adverse change in the Company's 
operations or business. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve judgments with respect, among other things, to future economic, 
competitive and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of 
which are beyond the control of the Company. Although the Company believes that the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements 
are reasonable, any of the assumptions could be inaccurate and there can, therefore, be no assurance that the forward-looking statements 
included in this Form 10-K will prove to be accurate. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking statements 
included herein, the inclusion of such information should not be regarded as a representation by the Company or any other person that the 
objectives and plans of the Company will be achieved.  
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.  

The following table sets forth the results of operations for the periods presented expressed in thousands of dollars and as a percentage of 
revenues.  

 

(1) Historical results of operations for the Predecessors are presented on a combined basis.  

(2) Includes the historical results of operations for the Predecessors from January 1 through April 13, 1994 and of the Company from April 14 
through December 31, 1994.  
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                                                                                                       COMPANY AND 
                                                    COMPANY                 COMPANY                 PR EDECESSORS (1)(2) 
                                                    -------                 -------                 -- ----------------- 
                                               DECE MBER 31, 1996       DECEMBER 31, 1995             D ECEMBER 31, 1994 
                                               ---- -------------       -----------------             - ----------------- 
Revenues ................................   $ 96,03 3        100.0%   $ 96,060         100.0%    $  51, 744          100.0%  
Cost of revenue .........................     63,67 9         66.3      65,592          68.3        38, 312           74.0 
                                            ------- -        -----    --------          ----     ------ ---          ----- 
Gross profit ............................     32,35 4         33.7      30,468          31.7        13, 432           26.0 
Selling, general and 
administrative expenses .................     24,19 2         25.2      21,815          22.7         8, 941           17.3 
Depreciation and amortization ...........      2,11 1          2.2       2,341           2.4         1, 545            3.0 
Business combination costs ..............      1,20 6          1.3          --            --            --             -- 
                                            ------- -        -----    --------          ----     ------ ---          ----- 
Operating income ........................      4,84 5          5.0       6,312           6.6         2, 946            5.7 
Interest expense ........................        38 7          0.4         983           1.0           443            0.9 
Other expenses (income) .................       (39 4)        (0.4)       (364)         (0.4)         ( 235)          (0.5)  
                                            ------- -        -----    --------          ----     ------ ---          ----- 
 
Income before income taxes ..............      4,85 2          5.0       5,693           5.9         2, 738            5.3 
Income tax expense ......................        70 9          0.7       2,017           2.1         1, 230            2.4 
                                            ------- -        -----    --------          ----     ------ ---          ----- 
Net income ..............................   $  4,14 3          4.3%   $  3,676           3.8%    $   1, 508            2.9%  
                                            ======= =        =====    ========          ====     ====== ===          ===== 
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COMPARISON OF 1996 TO 1995.  

Revenue. Total contract revenue was $96.0 million and $96.1 million for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995. There was an increase 
in 1996 revenues from the Company's growing client/server solutions business of 82% or $8.8 million, which was offset by a reduction in 
nuclear simulation project revenues by 14% or $7.0 million, due in part to the maturing of the nuclear simulation business and the stoppage on 
a large Eastern European project due to lack of customer funding. The Company as a whole is becoming less dependent on large multi-year 
application projects, such as full scope nuclear power plant simulators, and is moving towards more smaller and shorter-term projects that often 
include licenses of the Company's proprietary tools.  

Contract backlog at December 31, 1996 and 1995 totaled $35.2 million and $60.1 million, respectively. This decrease continues to reflect the 
Company's transition away from larger multi-year application projects.  

Revenues from fixed price contracts constitute approximately 90.0% of the Company's revenues for the past three years. Any unexpected costs 
or unanticipated delays in connection with the performance of fixed priced contracts could adversely affect the Company's financial results.  

International sales were approximately $48.2 million or 50.2% of total revenues in 1996 and $50.8 million or 52.8% of total revenues in 1995. 
The Company expects that international sales will continue to represent a significant portion of its total revenues. The Company currently sells 
products and services to customers in emerging market economies such as Russia, Ukraine and Bulgaria. The Company's international 
operations are subject to various risks, including exposure to currency fluctuation, regulatory requirements, political and economic instability 
and trade restrictions. The Company has taken steps to reduce these risks, particularly risks associated with doing business in emerging 
markets, but there can be no assurance that the above mentioned risk factors will not have a material adverse affect on the Company's business, 
financial condition or results of operations.  

Gross Profit. Gross profit increased to $32.4 million, a gross margin of 33.7% for the year ended December 31, 1996 from $30.5 million, a 
gross margin of 31.7%, in the corresponding period of 1995. The increased gross margin is primarily attributable to declining volume of certain 
low margin contracts, settlement of claims on two international contracts, changes in contract and warranty estimates and cost containment 
measures.  

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $24.2 million, or 25.2% of revenues, 
during the year ended December 31, 1996 from $21.8 million, or 22.7% of revenues, during the corresponding period in 1995. The increase in 
selling, general and administrative expenses for the year is primarily attributable to increased sales force, bid and proposal activities, a full year 
charge attributable to the international operations of Process Solutions, a one time charge for severance and employee related obligations as a 
result of the Company's alignment into strategic business units in the second quarter and business expansion efforts. These expenses were 
offset, in part, by a significant decrease in net research and development expenses as discussed below and to a one-time $1.1 million 
adjustment in connection with consolidation of duplicate facilities.  
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Gross research and product development expenditures were $5.8 million and $4.6 million for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, 
respectively. Capitalized software development costs totaled $3.9 million and $1.6 million, during the years ended December 31, 1996 and 
1995, respectively. Net research and development costs expensed and included within selling, general and administrative expenses were $1.9 
million and $3.0 million during the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively. The Company continued investing  

 

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation expense amounted to $1.9 million and $1.6 million during the years ended December 31, 1996 
and 1995, respectively. This increase was attributable to higher levels of capital expenditure in 1996.  

Amortization of goodwill and intangibles was $168,000 and $766,000 during the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively. This 
decrease was attributable to the significant reduction in goodwill and other intangible assets at December 31, 1995, as fully discussed in Note 8 
of "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements".  

Business Combination Costs. Business combination costs related to the acquisition of Erudite Software, which consist primarily of consulting 
fees, legal and accounting expenses, and compensation expense for the shares issued to employees by the owners of Erudite Software pursuant 
to stock transfer agreements, amounted to approximately $1.2 million and were charged to operating expenses in 1996.  

Operating Income. Operating income amounted to $4.9 million and $6.3 million during the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, 
respectively. During the year, excluding the non-recurring acquisition costs, operating income was $6.1 million, or 6.3% of revenues, as 
compared with $6.3 million, or 6.6% of revenues during the corresponding period of 1995. The decrease in operating income for the year is 
attributable to higher expenses relating to sales and marketing efforts and business expansion activities, which were partially offset by higher 
margins on contracts, continued cost control initiatives, lower net research and development expenses and one-time facility adjustment.  

Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased to $387,000 during the year from $983,000, during 1995. This decrease is attributable primarily to 
the repayment in August 1995 of a five year promissory note to finance the Process Solutions acquisition and temporary pay-down of the 
working capital bank lines with the Company's initial public offering of Common Stock in mid-1995 ("IPO") proceeds.  

Other Expenses (Income). Other income amounted to $394,000 from interest earned from short-term investments of excess cash during the 
year ending December 31, 1996 as well as proceeds from the sale of an equity interest in a joint venture. During the corresponding period of 
1995, $364,000 in interest income was earned from short-term investments of cash proceeds from the IPO.  

Income Tax Expense. The Company's effective tax rate decreased to 14.6% in 1996 from 35.4% in 1995. The 1996 rate was decreased as a 
result of a one time reduction of the tax provision of $1.1 million. This reduction reflects the Company's assessment that it will be able to 
utilize previous net operating loss carry forwards generated by it power business unit.  
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COMPARISON OF 1995 TO 1994.  

Revenues. The Company's revenues for 1995 increased 85.6% to $96.1 million from $51.7 million in 1994. This increase resulted primarily 
from $36.0 million of revenues generated by Process Solutions, which the Company acquired in December 1994. Excluding Process Solutions, 
revenues increased by $8.3 million or 16% in 1995 over 1994, such increase primarily resulting from increased sales from the client/server 
solutions business as well as an increase in the Company's domestic modification and upgrade business. Contract backlog at December 31, 
1995 and 1994 totaled $60.1 million and $91.4 million, respectively.  

International sales were approximately $50.8 million or 52.8% of total revenues in 1995 and $36.3 million or 70.0% of total revenues in 1994.  

Gross Profit. Gross profit increased to $30.5 million, a gross profit margin of 31.7%, in 1995 from $13.4 million, a gross profit margin of 
26.0%, in 1994. This increase in gross profit is primarily attributable to the acquisition of Process Solutions and declining volume of certain 
low margin contracts.  

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $21.8 million, or 22.7% of revenues, 
in 1995 from $8.9 million, or 17.3% of revenues, in 1994. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses is primarily attributable 
to the acquired Process Solutions business which has higher relative selling, marketing, research and development costs. Upon consummation 
of the initial public offering on August 1, 1995, a management fee of $981 per day previously due to certain stockholders was eliminated. Such 
management fee was included within selling, general and administrative expenses and amounted to $204,000 and $257,000 in 1995 and 1994, 
respectively.  

Included in the selling, general and administrative expenses are research and development expenses of $3.0 million incurred in 1995 and $1.7 
million incurred in 1994. The above research and development expenses are net of capitalized software development costs of $1.6 million in 
1995 and none in 1994. The increase in research and development expenses is primarily attributable to the Process Solutions business which 
has higher research and development costs.  

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation expense amounted to $1.6 million and $953,000 in 1995 and 1994, respectively. This increase is 
attributable to the acquisition of Process Solutions. Amortization of goodwill and intangibles was $766,000 and $592,000 in 1995 and 1994, 
respectively. This increase also is attributable to the acquisition of Process Solutions.  

Operating Income. Operating income increased $3.4 million to $6.3 million, or 6.6% of revenues, in 1995 from $2.9 million, or 5.7% of 
revenues, in 1994. This increase in operating income is attributable to the acquisition of Process Solutions and to the continued benefits 
realized from the consolidation of operations of Power Systems, GPI and Power Systems AB. Operating income of the Company in 1995, 
excluding Process Solutions, was $4.4 million, or 4.5% of revenues, compared to $2.9 million, or 5.6% of revenues in 1994. The overall 
improvement in the operating margin to 6.6% of the revenues was achieved despite Process Solutions having low operating margins of 5.3% of 
revenues in 1995. The Company believes that Process Solutions' low operating margin, while improving, primarily resulted from lower than 
anticipated sales during the acquisition transition period.  
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Interest Expense. Interest expense increased significantly to $983,000 in 1995 from $443,000 in 1994. This increase is primarily attributable to 
the Company's issuance of a five-year promissory note that bore interest at a rate of 8% per annum to finance the Process Solutions acquisition; 
the Company paid off the note on August 7, 1995.  

Other Expense (Income). Other income increased to $364,000 for the year compared to $235,000 for the corresponding period in 1994. The 
increase in interest income is a result of earnings from short-term investments of cash proceeds from the IPO.  

Income Tax Expense. The Company's effective income tax rate decreased to 35.4% in 1995 from 44.9% in 1994. The higher tax rate in 1994 is 
attributable to the adjustment of deferred tax assets related to transactions between one of the Predecessors and its parent before April 14, 1994. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES.  

The Company has funded its activities primarily from cash generated from the IPO, from operations, and from borrowings under lines of credit. 
In 1996, the Company's operating activities used cash totaling approximately $1.9 million, primarily related to reductions in billings in excess 
of revenue earned and reductions in accrued contract and warranty reserves. For the year ended December 31, 1995 and for the period April 14 
through December 31, 1994, the Company generated cash flow from operations of approximately $13,000 and $4.2 million, respectively. At 
December 31, 1996, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $2.4 million compared to $9 million as of December 31, 1995.  

In August 1995, the Company consummated the initial public offering of its Common Stock, selling 1,725,000 shares of Common Stock, 
including Underwriters Overallotment Option of 225,000 shares, for $14.00 per share. The initial public offering resulted in net proceeds to the 
Company of approximately $21.1 million after deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses. The Company utilized $5.9 million of 
the proceeds from its initial public offering to repay indebtedness in connection with the Process Solutions acquisition. In addition, the 
Company used $2.5 million to pay down all outstanding indebtedness under its then existing lines of credit, and, at December 31, 1995, there 
were no outstanding borrowings under such lines of credit.  

The Company maintains, through its subsidiaries, two lines of credit that provide for borrowings up to a total of $14.0 million to support 
foreign letters of credit, margin requirements or foreign exchange contracts and working capital needs. The first line for $7.0 million is 90% 
guaranteed by the Export-Import Bank of the United States ("EXIM") and is collateralized by Power Systems' contract receivables and 
inventory. The line bears interest at the prime rate, provides for borrowings up to 90% of eligible receivables and 60% of unbilled receivables, 
and expires January 1, 1998, subject to earlier termination upon expiration of the EXIM guaranty (currently effective through April 30, 1997). 
The second line for $7.0 million is collateralized by substantially all of Process Solutions' assets. The line bears interest at the prime rate and 
expires January 1, 1998, subject to earlier termination upon the expiration of the EXIM guaranty for the Power Systems' line of credit. The 
lines require the Company to comply with certain financial ratios and preclude the Company from paying dividends and making acquisitions 
beyond certain limits without the bank's consent.  

The Company's additional commitments as of December 31, 1996 consisted primarily of leases on its headquarters and other facilities. Further, 
the performance of certain of the Company's customer contracts are  
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secured by performance guaranties, amounting to $4.4 million, and letters of credit, amounting to $973,000, as of December 31, 1996, 
furnished by its subsidiaries' respective former parent organizations in accordance with the agreement among ManTech, NPDC, GPC, GPS, 
Vattenfall and the Company dated April 13, 1994 (the "Formation Agreement"). Letters of credit are issued by the Company in the ordinary 
course of business through commercial banks as required by certain contracts and proposal requirements. The Company has also issued a letter 
of credit in connection with forward foreign currency exchange margin requirements. Such letters of credit issued by the Company at 
December 31, 1996 amounted to $207,000. The Company believes that its cash flow from operations and availability under the lines of credit 
will be sufficient to meet its currently anticipated needs for working capital, capital expenditures and debt repayment requirements for at least 
the next twelve months.  

FOREIGN EXCHANGE.  

A portion of the Company's international sales revenue is received in a currency other than the currency in which the expenses relating to such 
revenue are paid. The Company manages its foreign currency exposure primarily by entering into foreign currency exchange agreements and 
purchasing foreign currency options. The former requires the Company, on a specified date or during a specified period, to exchange a set 
amount of foreign currency for United States dollars or another base currency. The latter provides the Company with the option to exchange 
foreign currency for United States dollars or another base currency on a specified date or during a specified period. The Company utilizes these 
foreign exchange agreements and options only to reduce the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on its operating results and does not 
engage in foreign currency speculation. Foreign exchange contracts do not expose the Company to material risk because any losses on the 
contracts are calibrated to be offset by gains on the value of the foreign receivables being hedged. Foreign exchange options do not expose the 
Company to material risk since the Company has the right not to exercise the option.  

At December 31, 1996, the Company had forward exchange contracts of $2.2 million to hedge future German mark receipts and the Company's 
Swedish subsidiary had forward exchange contracts of Swedish krona 17.0 million, or approximately $2.5 million, and swap contracts of 
Swedish krona 4.1 million, or approximately $594,000, in both cases to hedge future Japanese yen receipts. Gains and losses on such contracts 
are recognized as part of the cost of the underlying transactions being hedged. Foreign exchange contracts have an element of risk that the 
counterparty may not be able to meet the terms of the agreement. However, the Company minimizes such risk exposure by limiting 
counterparties to Paine Webber Financial Products Inc., CoreStates Bank, NationsBank and Nordbanken AB. Management believes that the 
risk of incurring such losses is immaterial. The Company has also entered into foreign exchange option contracts with NationsBank, which 
permit but do not require the Company to exchange foreign currencies at a future date with the bank at a contracted exchange rate. Costs 
associated with such contracts are amortized over the life of the contract matching the underlying receipts.  

OTHER MATTERS.  

In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, "Earnings Per 
Share" (FAS 128). FAS 128 simplifies the existing earnings per share (EPS) computations under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 15, 
"Earnings Per Share," revises disclosure requirements, and increases the comparability of EPS data on an international basis. In simplifying the 
EPS computations, the presentation of primary EPS is replaced with basic EPS, with the principal difference being that common stock 
equivalents are not considered in computing basic EPS. In addition, FAS 128 requires dual presentation of basic and diluted EPS. FAS 128 is 
effective for financial statements issued for periods ending after December 15, 1997. The Company does not expect the EPS amounts 
calculated under FAS 128 to be materially different from the amounts presented in the financial statements.  

In late 1996, the Company consolidated its Hunt Valley, Maryland facilities with its Columbia facility. This resulted in prior excess space 
being fully utilized, and the reversal of an accrual of $1.1 million for excess  
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facilities which was credited against selling, general and administrative expenses. The accrual had originally been set up at the time of 
ManTech International Corporation's acquisition of S3 Technologies in August 1993.  

To date, management believes inflation has not had a material impact on the Company's operations.  

GSE Systems, SimSuite Pro, SimSuite Pipeline, SimSuite Power, FlexBatch,  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS  

To The Board of Directors and Stockholders of GSE Systems, Inc.  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of GSE Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 
1996, and 1995, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows for the years 
ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 and for the period April 14, 1994 (date of inception) to December 31, 1994. These financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of GSE 
Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the consoldated results of their operations and their cash flows for the 
years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 and for the period April 14, 1994 (date of inception) to December 31, 1994, in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles.  

COOPERS & LYBRAND L.L.P.  

Washington, D.C.  
March 21, 1997  
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(in thousands, except share and per share data)  

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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                                     ASSETS 
                                                                                              December  31, 
                                                                                      1996                    1995 
                                                                                   ------------           -------------  
Current assets: 
      Cash and cash equivalents ................... .............................   $  2,450               $  9,016 
      Contract receivables ........................ .............................     27,457                 29,508 
      Inventories ................................. .............................      3,538                  2,293 
      Prepaid expenses and other current assets ... .............................      2,701                  2,889 
      Deferred income taxes........................ .............................      1,454                    472 
                                                                                    -------                ------- 
           Total current assets ................... .............................     37,600                 44,178 
Property and equipment, net ....................... .............................      5,318                  4,115 
Software development costs, net ................... .............................      5,176                  1,921 
Goodwill, net ..................................... .............................      2,059                  2,348 
Deferred income taxes ............................. .............................        569                  1,856 
Other assets                                                                            284                    270 
                                                                                    -------                ------- 
           Total .................................. .............................   $ 51,006               $ 54,688 
                                                                                    =======                ======= 
 
 
                         LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDE RS' EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 
      Lines of credit ............................. .............................   $  2,582               $     -- 
      Accounts payable ............................ .............................      8,604                  7,560 
      Accrued expenses ............................ .............................      4,430                  4,435 
      Notes payable to banks ...................... .............................         --                    212 
      Notes payable to related parties ............ .............................         --                    190 
      Obligations under capital lease ............. .............................        186                    103 
      Billings in excess of revenue earned ........ .............................      5,358                 10,609 
      Accrued contract reserves ................... .............................        233                    641 
      Accrued warranty reserves ................... .............................      1,408                  2,119 
      Other current liabilities ................... .............................        281                  1,061 
      Income taxes payable ........................ .............................        651                  1,171 
                                                                                     ------                 ------ 
           Total current liabilities .............. .............................     23,733                 28,101 

Notes payable to related parties .................. .............................        202                    216 
Obligations under capital lease ................... .............................        420                    227 
Billings in excess of revenue earned .............. .............................        803                  2,485 
Accrued contract and warranty reserves ............ .............................        687                  1,495 
Accrued facility costs ............................ .............................         --                  1,103 
Other liabilities ................................. .............................        468                    529 
                                                                                     ------                 ------ 
           Total liabilities ...................... .............................     26,313                 34,156 
                                                                                     ------                 ------ 
 
 
Stockholders' equity: 
      Common stock $.01 par value, 8,000,000 shares  authorized, 
          5,065,688 shares issued and outstanding . .............................         50                     50 
      Additional paid-in capital .................. .............................     21,378                 21,121 
      Retained earnings (deficit) - at formation .. .............................     (5,112)                (5,112)  
      Retained earnings - since formation ......... .............................      8,464                  4,321 
      Pension liability adjustment ................ .............................         --                   (102)  
      Cumulative translation adjustment                                                 (87)                   254 
                                                                                    -------                ------- 
           Total stockholders' equity ............. .............................     24,693                 20,532 
                                                                                    -------                ------- 
           Total liabilities & stockholders' equity  ............................   $ 51,006               $ 54,688 
                                                                                    =======                ======= 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

(in thousands, except per share data)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                                                                          For the Period 
                                                                         Year-ended        Year-ended    April 14 through  
                                                                         December 31,     December 31,      December 31, 
                                                                             1996              1995           1994 
                                                                             ----              ----           ---- 
 
Contract revenue .................................. ................        $ 96,033         $ 96,060        $ 37,085 
Cost of revenue ................................... ................          63,679           65,592          27,932 
                                                                          ---------         --------        -------- 
       Gross profit ............................... ................          32,354           30,468           9,153 
                                                                          ---------         --------        -------- 
 
Operating expenses: 
       Selling, general and administrative ........ ................          24,192           21,815           6,313 
       Depreciation and amortization .............. ................           2,111            2,341           1,125 
       Business combination costs ................. ................           1,206               --              -- 
                                                                           --------         --------        -------- 
       Total operating expenses ................... ................          27,509           24,156           7,438 
                                                                           --------         --------        -------- 
            Operating income ...................... ................           4,845            6,312           1,715 
Interest expense .................................. ................             387              983             402 
Other income ...................................... ................            (394)            (364)           (192) 
                                                                           --------         --------        -------- 
       Income before income taxes ................. ................           4,852            5,693           1,505 
Provision for income taxes ........................ ................             709            2,017             552 
                                                                           --------         --------        -------- 
Net income ........................................ ................           4,143            3,676             953 
Preferred dividends................................ ................              --               --              76 
                                                                           --------         --------        -------- 
        Net income available to common shareholders ................        $  4,143         $  3,676        $    877 
                                                                           ========         ========        ======== 
Earnings per common share ......................... ................        $   0.82         $   0.91        $   0.26 
                                                                           ========         ========        ======== 
 
Weighted average common shares outstanding ........ ................           5,073            4,059           3,341 
                                                                           ========         ========        ======== 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)  

FOR THE PERIOD APRIL 14, 1994 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 1994  
AND THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1996  

(IN THOUSANDS)  

 

                                                     COMMON STOCK          ADDITIONAL     RETAINED EAR NINGS          NOTES 
                                                     ------------          ----------     ------------ -----          ----- 
                                                                           PAID-IN          AT         SINCE     RECEIVABLE FROM  
                                                                           -------          --         -----     ---------------  
                                                  S HARES      AMOUNT       CAPITAL       FORMATION   F ORMATION    SHAREHOLDERS 
                                                  - -----      ------       -------       ---------   - --------    ------------ 
Balance, April 14, 1994 
   as previously reported ...................         --    $     --     $     --       $  1,676      $   --         $   -- 
Pooling of interests with Erudite 
Software (Note 3)............................        841           8           --             --          (3)          (150) 
                                                  - -----    --------      -------       --------      ------         ------ 
Balance, April 14, 1994 .....................        841           8           --          1,676          (3)          (150) 
Issuance of common stock ....................        100           1           --             --          --             -- 
Stock dividends .............................      2,400          24           --            (24)         --             -- 
Issuance of preferred stock .................         --          --           --         (4,000)         --             -- 
Distribution to shareholder .................         --          --           --         (1,000)         --             -- 
Reductions in notes receivable ..............         --          --           --             --          --             75 
Notes payable to shareholder ................         --          --           --         (1,700)         --             -- 
Preferred dividends .........................         --          --           --             --         (76)            -- 
Foreign currency translation ................         --          --           --             --          --             -- 
Pension liability adjustment ................         --          --           --             --          --             -- 
Net income ..................................         --          --           --             --         953             -- 
                                                  - -----    --------      -------        -------      ------         ------ 
Balance, December 31, 1994 ..................      3,341          33           --         (5,048)        874            (75) 
Issuance of common stock ....................      1,725          17       21,121             --          --             -- 
Distribution to shareholder .................         --          --           --            (64)       (229)            -- 
Reductions in notes receivable ..............         --          --           --             --          --             75 
Foreign currency translation ................         --          --           --             --          --             -- 
Pension liability adjustment ................         --          --           --             --          --             -- 
Net income ..................................         --          --           --             --       3,676             -- 
                                                  - -----    --------      -------        -------      ------         ------ 
Balance, December 31, 1995 ..................      5,066          50       21,121         (5,112)      4,321             -- 
Compensation expense ........................         --          --          257             --          --             -- 
Foreign currency translation ................         --          --           --             --          --             -- 
Pension liability adjustment ................         --          --           --             --          --             -- 
Net income ..................................         --          --           --             --       4,143             -- 
                                                  - -----    --------     --------       --------      ------         ------ 
Balance, December 31, 1996 ..................      5,066    $     50     $ 21,378       $ (5,112)     $8,464         $   -- 
                                                  = =====    ========     ========       ========      ======         ====== 

                                                       PENSION        FOREIGN 
                                                       -------        ------- 
                                                       LIABILITY      CURRENCY 
                                                       ---------      -------- 
                                                      ADJUSTMENT    TRANSLATION       TOTAL 
                                                      ----------    -----------       ----- 
Balance, April 14, 1994 
   as previously reported ...................         $    --        $      --     $  1,676 
Pooling of interests with Erudite 
Software (Note 3)............................              --               --         (145)  
                                                      -------        ---------     -------- 
Balance, April 14, 1994 .....................                               --        1,531 
Issuance of common stock ....................              --               --            1 
Stock dividends .............................              --               --           -- 
Issuance of preferred stock .................              --               --       (4,000)  
Distribution to shareholder .................              --               --       (1,000)  
Reductions in notes receivable...............              --               --           75 
Notes payable to shareholder ................              --               --       (1,700)  
Preferred dividend ..........................              --               --          (76)  
Foreign currency translation ................              --               60           60 
Pension liability adjustment ................             (73)              --          (73)  
Net income ..................................              --               --          953 
                                                      -------        ---------     -------- 
Balance, December 31, 1994 ..................             (73)              60       (4,229)  
Issuance of common stock ....................              --               --       21,138 
Distribution to shareholder .................              --               --         (293)  
Reductions in notes receivable...............              --               --           75 
Foreign currency translation ................              --              194          194 
Pension liability adjustment ................             (29)              --          (29)  
Net income ..................................              --               --        3,676 
                                                      -------        ---------     -------- 
Balance, December 31, 1995 ..................            (102)             254       20,532 
Compensation expense ........................              --               --          257 
Foreign currency translation ................              --             (341)        (341)  
Pension liability adjustment ................             102               --          102 
Net income ..................................              --               --        4,143 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                      -------        ---------     -------- 
Balance, December 31, 1996 ..................         $    --        $     (87)    $ 24,693 
                                                      =======        =========     ======== 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(IN THOUSANDS)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                                                                              FOR THE PERIOD  
                                                                                                                  APRIL 14 
                                                                                          YEAR-ENDED              THROUGH 
                                                                                          DECEMBER 31,           DECEMBER 31,  
                                                                                      1996            1995          1994 
                                                                                      ----            ----           ---- 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
Net income ........................................ .............................     $ 4,143         $  3,676       $   953 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (us ed in) provided by 
  operating activities: 
       Depreciation and amortization .............. .............................       2,747           2,813         1,476 
       Accrued facility costs ..................... .............................      (1,451)           (348)         (278) 
       Non-cash stock compensation ................ .............................         257              --            -- 
       Provision for doubtful contract receivables and inventory reserve .......          --             102            72 
       Deferred income taxes ...................... .............................          71             627           152 
       Interest imputed on discounted note payable .............................          --              17            -- 
       Changes in assets and liabilities 
          Contract receivables .................... .............................       2,103          (7,962)        7,840 
          Inventories ............................. .............................      (1,245)            271            19 
          Prepaid expenses and other current assets  ............................         355          (1,208)         (214) 
          Other assets ............................ .............................        (181)           (150)           19 
          Accounts payable and accrued expenses ... .............................       1,399           3,645          (133) 
          Billings in excess of revenue earned .... .............................      (6,933)            617        (4,551) 
          Accrued contract and warranty reserves .. .............................      (1,927)         (2,605)       (2,116) 
          Other current liabilities ............... .............................        (780)           (157)          586 
          Income taxes payable .................... .............................        (520)            676           373 
          Other liabilities ....................... .............................          41              (1)           26 
                                                                                     -------         - ------       ------- 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities  ............................      (1,921)             13         4,224 
                                                                                     -------         - ------       ------- 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
       Payment for purchase of Process Solutions .. .............................          --                        (2,000) 
       Capital expenditures ....................... .............................      (2,834)         (1,501)         (600) 
       Capitalization of software development costs  ............................      (3,890)         (1,664)           -- 
                                                                                     -------         - ------       ------- 
Net cash used in investing activities ............. .............................      (6,724)         (3,165)       (2,600) 
                                                                                     -------         - ------       ------- 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
       Borrowings (repayments) under lines of credi t with bank .................       2,369          (4,024)        1,517 
       Cash overdraft ............................. .............................          --             (13)          478 
       Repayment to Vattenfall .................... .............................          --          (1,411)           -- 
       Repayments under capital lease obligations . .............................         (37)            (75)          (49) 
       Principal payments under term-note ......... .............................          --          (7,882)       (1,042) 
       Payments to shareholder at formation ....... .............................          --             (64)       (1,000) 
       Payments on shareholder notes .............. .............................        (204)            (38)          (767)  
       Net proceeds from sale of common stock ..... .............................          --          21,138             1 
       Redemption of preferred stock .............. .............................          --          (2,400)       (1,600) 
       Preferred dividends ........................ .............................          --              --           (76) 
       Net repayment of amounts due from stockholde r ...........................          --           2,473         2,926 
                                                                                     -------         - ------       ------- 
Net cash provided by financing activities ......... .............................       2,128           7,704           388 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash eq uivalents ...................         (49)            112            70 
                                                                                     -------         - ------       ------- 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalent s ...........................      (6,566)          4,664         2,082 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period .. .............................       9,016           4,352         2,270 
                                                                                     -------         - ------       ------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ........ .............................     $ 2,450         $  9,016       $ 4,352 
                                                                                     =======         = ======       ======= 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. BUSINESS  

GSE Systems, Inc. (the "Company") designs, develops and delivers business and technology solutions by applying process control, data 
acquisition, simulation, client/server and business software, systems and services to the energy, process and manufacturing industries 
worldwide. The Company was formed on April 13, 1994 through the consolidation of operations of GSE Power Systems, Inc. ("Power 
Systems") (formerly "Simulation, Systems & Services Technologies Company"), GP International Engineering & Simulation, Inc. ("GPI") and 
GSE Power Systems AB ("Power Systems AB") (formerly "EuroSim AB"). In December 1994 and in the second quarter of 1995, the Company 
expanded into the process control and data acquisition business through the acquisition of the net assets of the process control systems division 
of Texas Instruments Incorporated ("TI"), which now does business as GSE Process Solutions, Inc. ("Process Solutions"). In May 1996, the 
Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Erudite Software & Consulting, Inc. ("Erudite Software"), a provider of 
client/server solutions through custom applications software development, training services, hardware-software sales and network design and 
implementation. Power Systems, GPI, Power Systems AB and Erudite Software are collectively referred to as the "Predecessors".  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Formation of the Company  

The Company was formed through the contribution of the businesses of Power Systems (and its immediate parent), GPI and Power Systems 
AB by their parent organizations, ManTech International Corporation ("ManTech") and certain of its employees and related parties, National 
Patent Development Corporation ("NPDC") and NPDC's affiliates, SGLG, Inc. (formerly named GPS Technologies, Inc. and hereinafter called 
"GPS") and General Physics Corporation ("GPC"), and Vattenfall Engineering AB ("Vattenfall"). In exchange, the contributors received shares 
of Common Stock of the Company. In addition, ManTech received shares of preferred stock of the Company and Vattenfall received cash and 
notes. In light of the equality of interests of the Company's principal stockholders, there was no identifiable acquirer in the consolidation. Thus, 
the assets and liabilities of each of the businesses contributed were recorded at historical cost.  

Principles of consolidation  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the results of operations of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries: 
Power Systems, GPI, Powers Systems AB, Process Solutions and Erudite Software. All inter- company balances and transactions have been 
eliminated.  

Accounting estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  
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GSE SYSTEMS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than three months at 
the date of purchase.  

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information (in thousands):  

 

As discussed in Note 3, the Company acquired Process Solutions' domestic operations in December 1994 and international operations in the 
second quarter of 1995. In conjunction with these acquisitions, the purchase price consisted of the following (in thousands):  

 

Inventories  

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, as determined by the average cost method, or market. Obsolete or unsaleable inventory is reflected at 
its estimated net realizable value. Inventory costs include raw materials and purchased parts.  

A summary of inventories is as follows (in thousands):  

 

Property and equipment  

Property and equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method with estimated useful lives ranging from three to ten 
years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the lease or the estimated useful life, whichever is shorter, using the straight-line 
method. Upon sale or retirement, the cost and related amortization is eliminated from the respective accounts and any resulting gain or loss is 
included in operations. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.  

F-7  

                                                           YEAR ENDED                 FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                          DECEMBER 31,               APRIL 14 THROUGH  
                                                          ------------                 DECEMBER 31, 
                                                                                       ------------ 
                                                     1996               1995               1994 
                                                     ----               ----               ---- 
Non cash investing & financing activities: 
  Obligations under finance leases ............... $  313              $  90               $  -- 
                                                   ======              =====               ===== 

Cash paid......................................... $   --       $  --         $ 2,000  
Short-term notes payable issued...................     --          --           2,000  
Long-term notes payable issued....................     --        1,043          4,839  
                                                   ------       ------        -------  
Total fair value of acquisition................... $   --       $1,043        $ 8,839  
                                                   ======       ======        =======  
 
Cash paid for: 
  Interest........................................ $  228       $  882        $   381  
  Income taxes.................................... $  285       $  767        $    11  
                                                   ======       ======        =======  

                                                            DECEMBER 31, 
                                                        1996             1995 
                                                        ----             ---- 
Raw materials...................................... ..  $ 2,115          $ 1,524  
Service parts...................................... ..    1,423              769  
                                                       -------          -------  
                                                       $ 3,538          $ 2,293  
                                                       =======          =======  



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Software development costs  

Certain computer software development costs are capitalized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Capitalization of computer 
software development costs begins upon the establishment of technological feasibility. Capitalization ceases and amortization of capitalized 
costs begins when the software product is commercially available for general release to customers. Amortization of capitalized computer 
software development costs is included in cost of revenue and is provided at the greater of the amount computed using  
(a) the ratio of current gross revenues for a product to the total of current and anticipated future gross revenue or (b) the straight-line method 
over the remaining estimated economic life of the product, not to exceed five years.  

Research and development  

Development expenditures incurred to meet customer specifications under contracts accounted for under the percentage of completion method 
are charged to contract costs. Company sponsored research and development expenditures are charged to operations as incurred and are 
included in selling, general and administrative expenses. The amounts incurred for Company sponsored research and development activities 
relating to the development of new products and services or the improvement of existing products and services, exclusive of amounts 
capitalized, were approximately $1,861,000, $2,945,000, and $963,000 for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, and for the period 
April 14 through December 31, 1994, respectively.  

Goodwill  

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of net tangible and intangible assets acquired. These amounts are amortized 
on a straight-line basis over periods ranging from ten to fifteen years.  

At each balance sheet date, management evaluates the recoverability of goodwill using certain financial indicators, such as historical and future 
ability to generate income from operations. The Company's policy is to record an impairment loss against the net unamortized cost of the 
intangible asset in the period when it is determined that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. This determination is based on 
an evaluation of such factors as the occurrence of a significant event, a significant change in the environment in which the business operates, or 
if the expected future net cash flows (undiscounted and without interest) would become less than the carrying amount of the asset.  

Foreign currency translation  

Balance sheet accounts for foreign operations are translated at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date, and income statement accounts are 
translated at the average exchange rate for the period. The resulting translation adjustments are included as a separate component of 
stockholders' equity. Transaction gains and losses included in income were not significant.  
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Revenue recognition  

Revenue under fixed-price contracts generally is accounted for on the percentage-of-completion method, based on contract costs incurred to 
date and estimated costs to complete. Estimated contract earnings are reviewed and revised periodically as the work progresses and the 
cumulative effect of any change is recognized in the period in which the change is determined. Estimated losses are charged against earnings in 
the period such losses are identified. The remaining liability for contract costs to be incurred in excess of contract revenue is reflected as 
accrued contract reserves in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Revenue from sales of other products is recorded when the products 
are shipped. Revenue from certain consulting or training contracts are recognized on a time and material basis. For time-and-material type 
contracts, revenue is recognized based on hours incurred at a contracted labor rate plus expenses. The Company has no significant vendor 
obligations or collectibility risk associated with its product sales.  

Warranties  

As the Company recognizes revenue under the percentage-of-completion method, it provides an accrual for estimated future warranty costs 
based on historical and projected claims experience. During 1996, the Company revised its estimate for future warranty costs. The effect of this 
change in estimate was to increase gross profit by approximately $601,000.  

Income taxes  

Deferred income taxes are provided under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are determined based on the 
differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the 
differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected 
to be realized. Income tax expense consists of the Company's current liability for federal, state and foreign income taxes and the change in the 
Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities. No provision has been made for the undistributed earnings of the Company's foreign 
subsidiaries as they are considered permanently invested. Amounts of undistributed earnings are not material to the overall consolidated 
financial statements.  

Earnings per share  

Net income per common share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the period. 
The difference between primary and fully-diluted per share amounts is insignificant.  

New pronouncement  

In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, "Earnings Per 
Share" (FAS 128). FAS 128 simplifies the existing earnings per share (EPS) computations under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 15, 
"Earnings Per Share," revises disclosure requirements, and increases the comparability of EPS data on an international basis. In simplifying the 
EPS computations, the presentation of primary EPS is replaced with basic EPS, with the principal difference being that common stock 
equivalents are not considered in computing basic EPS. In addition, FAS 128 requires dual presentation of basic and diluted EPS. FAS 128 is 
effective for financial statements issued for periods ending after December 15, 1997. The Company does not expect the EPS amounts 
calculated under FAS 128 to be materially different from the amounts presented in the financial statements.  

Concentration of credit risk  

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of temporary cash investments and 
contract receivables. The Company restricts investments of temporary cash to financial institutions with high credit standing. Credit risk on 
contract receivables is mitigated by the nature of the Company's worldwide customer base and its credit policies. The Company's customers are 
not concentrated in any specific geographic region, but are concentrated in the energy and manufacturing industries. No single customer 
accounted for a significant (greater than 10%) amount of the Company's revenue and there were no significant contract receivables from a 
single customer. The Company performs a credit evaluation before extending credit and may require letters of credit, bank guarantees or 
advance payments. Thereafter, the Company continues to monitor its contract receivables exposure after giving effect to letters of credit, bank 
guarantees, the status of work performed on contracts, and its customers' financial condition.  
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Off balance sheet risk and foreign exchange contracts  

The Company enters into forward exchange contracts, options and swaps as hedges against certain foreign currency commitments. The 
Company also enters into letters of credit and performance guarantees in the ordinary course of business as required by certain contracts and 
proposal requirements.  

Gains and losses on foreign exchange contracts and swaps are recognized as part of the cost of the underlying transactions being hedged. 
Foreign exchange contracts have an element of risk that the counterparty may not be able to meet the terms of the agreement. However, the 
Company minimizes such risk exposure by limiting counterparties to nationally recognized financial institutions. Foreign exchange options 
contracts permit but do not require the Company to exchange foreign currencies at a future date with counterparties at a contracted exchange 
rate. Costs associated with such contracts are amortized over the life of the contract matching the underlying receipts.  

3. ACQUISITIONS  

The Company acquired the net assets of the domestic operations of Process Solutions on December 30, 1994 and the international operations in 
the second quarter of 1995 for an aggregate purchase price of $9,882,000. This acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method. The 
financial results of Process Solutions have been included in the results of operations from the date of acquisition. The acquisition was financed 
through a promissory note payable in the amounts of $5,882,000 with a five year term (the "TI Five-Year Note"), a short-term promissory note 
payable in the amount of $2,000,000 and cash from operations of the Company in the amount of $2,000,000. The TI Five-Year Note, which 
was guaranteed by the Company and certain of its stockholders, and the short-term promissory note, bore interest at a rate of 8% and were fully 
repaid in 1995. The Company is also required to make quarterly performance payments to TI equal to 15% of the revenue earned through 
December 30, 1999 attributable to the Real Time Business Controls portion of the acquired business with a minimum payment of $750,000 and 
a maximum payment of $4,000,000. The minimum amount of $750,000 has been accrued and recorded as goodwill, and all additional 
payments above $750,000 will be recorded as goodwill if paid. The acquisition resulted in total goodwill of $2,427,000, which is being 
amortized over fifteen years.  

On May 22, 1996, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Erudite Software. The acquisition was accomplished 
through a merger of Erudite Software into a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company in which 840,688 shares of the Company's Common 
Stock were exchanged for all outstanding shares of capital stock of Erudite Software. The acquisition has been accounted for using the pooling-
of-interests method of accounting and accordingly, the Company's consolidated financial statements have been restated to include the accounts 
and operations of Erudite Software for all periods prior to the merger.  
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Combined and separate results of the Company and Erudite Software during the periods preceding the merger were as follows (in thousands):  

 

PRO FORMA INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)  

The Company consummated the initial public offering of its Common Stock, selling 1,725,000 shares of Common Stock at $14.00 per share in 
August 1995. Part of the proceeds from the initial public offering were used to pay down all outstanding indebtedness. Pro forma 
supplementary earnings per share showing what the earnings would have been if the acquisition of Process Solutions and payment of debt had 
taken place at the beginning of each period are presented below. The appropriate number of shares of Common Stock, whose sale proceeds 
would have been required to pay down the outstanding indebtedness during each period presented below, are included in the weighted average 
number shares outstanding for that period.  

 

The pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of what actually would have occurred if the acquisition and the payment of debt had been 
made at the beginning of the above periods. In addition, they are not intended to be a projection of future results.  
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                                                                 THE COMPANY          ERUDITE SOFTWARE           COMBINED  
                                                                 -----------          ----------------           --------  
Three Months Ended March 31, 1996: 
                  Revenue........................                  $  18,545             $   3,758              $ 22,303  
                                                                    ========              ========               =======  
                  Net income.....................                  $     860             $     231              $  1,091  
                                                                    ========              ========               =======  
 
Year Ended December 31, 1995: 
                  Revenue........................                  $  85,302             $  10,758              $ 96,060  
                                                                    ========              ========               =======  
                  Net income.....................                  $   3,490             $     186              $  3,676  
                                                                    ========              ========               =======  
 
Period April 14, 1994 to December 31, 1994: 
                  Revenue........................                  $  33,637             $   3,448              $ 37,085  
                                                                    ========              ========               =======  
                  Net income.....................                  $     999             $     (46)             $    953  
                                                                    ========              ========               =======  

                                                                                YEAR ENDED 
                                                                          1995               1994 
                                                                          ----               ---- 
                                                                  (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA )  
Pro Forma Revenues  ............................... .........            $ 97,078           $ 95,997 
                                                                          ======             ====== 
 
Pro Forma Net Income  ............................. .........            $  3,852           $  3,147 
                                                                          ======             ====== 
 
Pro Forma Earnings Per Share  ..................... .........            $   0.96           $   0.77 
                                                                          ======             ====== 
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding  .... .........               3,996              4,083 
                                                                          ======             ====== 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

4. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents and short-term debt approximate fair value because of the short-term maturity of these 
instruments. The carrying amount of long-term debt approximates fair value based on either market prices for the same or similar issues or the 
current rates offered to the Company for similar debt of the same maturities. Fair value estimates of foreign currency instruments, which are 
included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the consolidated balance sheet, were based on quotes from financial institutions, as set 
forth below (in thousands):  

 

5. CONTRACT RECEIVABLES AND BILLINGS IN EXCESS OF REVENUE EARNED  

Contract receivables represent balances due from a broad base of both domestic and international customers. Due to the various billing and 
payment terms, none of these individual customer balances is significant (more than 10%). All contract receivables are considered to be 
collectible within twelve months. The components of contract receivables are as follows (in thousands):  

 

Recoverable costs and accrued profit - not billed represent costs incurred and profit accrued on contracts that will become billable upon future 
milestones or completion of contracts.  

Revisions in estimated contract costs at completion are reflected in the period during which facts and circumstances necessitating such a change 
first become known. The effect of changes in estimates of contract profits was to increase gross profit by approximately $1,900,000 and 
$1,019,000 during the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 respectively, and to decrease gross profit by $633,000 during the period from 
April 14, 1994 through December 31, 1994, from that which would have been reported had the revised estimates been used as the basis of 
recognition of contract profits in the preceding periods.  

For the year ended December 31, 1995, the total estimated contract revenues and costs at completion for two international contracts included 
claims revenue, which is equal to estimated future costs of $1,200,000. During 1996, the Company received contract modifications totaling 
$2,200,000 for the claims recognized in 1995 and for additional claims in 1996. In connection with these contract modifications, the Company 
incurred total costs of approximately $1,600,000 including costs related to the claims recognized in 1995. Accordingly, the Company 
recognized additional gross profit of approximately $600,000 during 1996.  

Additionally, the Company settled claims and counterclaims with its consortium partner on these international contracts for which there was no 
net impact to the Company.  
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                                              DECEM BER 31, 1996                             DECEMBER 3 1, 1995 
                                      ------------- --------------------               ---------------- ------------- 
                                    CARRYING         FAIR          NOTIONAL/        CARRYING      FAIR        NOTIONAL/ 
                                     AMOUNT         VALUE      CONTRACT VALUE        AMOUNT      VALUE     CONTRACT VALUE  
                                     ------         -----      --------------        ------      -----     --------------  
Foreign currency instruments: 
Options......................        $  333         $ 231         $ 3,973            $  326      $  18 8       $  5,004 
 
Forward contracts............        $  370         $ 409         $ 4,665            $  721      $  87 0       $ 12,470 
 
Swaps........................        $  106         $  89         $   594            $  209      $  20 6       $  1,667 

                                                                                                     D ECEMBER 31, 
                                                                                                 1996            1995 
                                                                                                ------           ------ 
Billed receivables................................. ...................................         $ 18,04 1        $ 18,804 
Recoverable costs and accrued profit - not billed.. ...................................            9,71 4          11,643 
Allowance for doubtful accounts.................... ...................................             (29 8)           (939)  
                                                                                                ------ -         ------- 
    Total contract receivables..................... ...................................         $ 27,45 7        $ 29,508 
                                                                                                ====== =         ======= 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):  

 

Depreciation and amortization expense was $1,943,000, $1,575,000 and $710,000 for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, and for 
the period April 14, 1994 (date of inception) through December 31, 1994, respectively.  

7. SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS  

Software development costs, net, consist of the following (in thousands):  

 

Software development costs capitalized were $3,890,000, $1,664,000 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, and for the 
period April 14, 1994 (date of inception) through December 31, 1994, respectively. Amortization of software development costs capitalized 
was $635,000, $471,000 and $351,000 for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, and for the period April 14 through December 31, 
1994, respectively, and are included within cost of revenue. During 1996, the Company wrote-off approximately $2.4 million in fully 
amortized capitalized software development costs from one of the Predecessors.  

8. GOODWILL  

Goodwill consists of the following (in thousands):  

 

Amortization expense for goodwill was approximately $168,000, $270,000 and $67,000 for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, and 
for the period April 14, 1994 (date of inception) through December 31,  
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                                                                                                   DEC EMBER 31, 
                                                                                             --------- ------------- 
                                                                                             1996               1995 
                                                                                             ----               ---- 
Computer equipment................................. ..................................      $ 7,101             $ 5,005 
Leasehold improvements............................. ..................................        1,829               1,501 
Furniture and fixtures............................. ..................................        1,521                 838 
                                                                                            ------              ------ 
                                                                                            10,451               7,344 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization.......... ..................................       (5,133)             (3,229)  
                                                                                            ------              ------ 
Property and equipment, net........................ ..................................      $ 5,318             $ 4,115 
                                                                                             =====               ===== 

                                                                                                     D ECEMBER 31, 
                                                                                              -------- -------------- 
                                                                                                1996            1995 
                                                                                                -----           ---- 
Capitalized software development costs............. ...................................        $  5,554         $ 4,018 
Accumulated amortization........................... ...................................            (378 )        (2,097)  
                                                                                                 -----           ----- 
Software development costs, net.................... ...................................        $  5,176         $ 1,921 
                                                                                                 =====            ==== 

                                                                                              DECEMBER  31, 
                                                                                              -------- ---- 
                                                                                         1996             1995 
                                                                                         ----             ---- 
Cost............................................... ........................            $ 2,425          $ 2,546 
Accumulated amortization........................... ........................               (366)            (198)  
                                                                                         -----            ----- 
Total                                                                                  $ 2,059          $ 2,348 
                                                                                         =====            ===== 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
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1994, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 1995 and for the period April 14, 1994 (date of inception) to December 31, 1994, the 
Company recorded amortization expense of $496,000 and $348,000, respectively, for other intangible assets that were fully amortized by 
December 31, 1995.  

As discussed in Note 11, during 1996 and 1995, the Company reduced the valuation allowance (against deferred tax assets) that was set up in 
connection with the acquisition of Power Systems in August 1993. This resulted in a corresponding reduction of goodwill of $109,000 and 
$525,000 during the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively and other intangible assets by $829,000 during the year ended 
December 31, 1995.  

9. ACCRUED EXPENSES  

Accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):  

 

10. NOTES PAYABLE AND FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS  

Notes payable and financing arrangements consist of the following (in thousands):  
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                                                                                                     D ECEMBER 31, 
                                                                                               ------- ---------------- 
                                                                                                 1996            1995 
                                                                                                 ----            ---- 
Accrued vacation, severance and other benefits..... ...................................          $ 2,45 6         $ 2,037  
Accrued compensation and payroll taxes............. ...................................            1,50 4           1,943  
Due to stockholders and affiliates................. ...................................               - -             141  
Other accrued expenses............................. ...................................              47 0             314  
                                                                                                  ---- -           -----  
  Total............................................ ...................................          $ 4,43 0         $ 4,435  
                                                                                                  ==== =           =====  

                                                                                                  DECE MBER 31, 
                                                                                               ------- ---------- 
                                                                                               1996         1995 
                                                                                               ----         ---- 
Lines of credit with bank.......................... .................................         $  2,582      $  -- 
Notes payable to banks............................. .................................               --        212 
Notes payable to related parties................... .................................              202        406 
Capital lease obligations.......................... .................................              606        330 
                                                                                                -----        --- 
  Total notes payable and financing arrangements... .................................            3,390        948 
Less amounts payable within one year............... .................................           (2,768)       (505)  
                                                                                                -----        --- 
  Long-term portion................................ .................................         $    622      $ 443 
                                                                                                =====        === 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
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Lines of Credit  

The Company maintains, through its subsidiaries, two lines of credit that provide for borrowings up to $14.0 million to support foreign letters 
of credit, margin requirements or foreign exchange contracts and working capital needs. The first line, through Power Systems, of $7.0 million 
is 90% guaranteed by the Export-Import Bank of the United States ("EXIM") and is collateralized by Power Systems' contract receivables and 
inventory. The line bears interest at the bank's prime rate (8.25% at December 31, 1996), provides for borrowings up to 90% of eligible 
receivables and 60% of unbilled receivables, and expires January 1, 1998, subject to earlier termination upon expiration of the EXIM guaranty 
(currently effective through April 30, 1997). The outstanding borrowings under the Power Systems line at December 31, 1996 was $1,782,000.  

The second line, through Process Solutions, of $7.0 million is collateralized by substantially all of Process Solutions assets and provides for 
borrowings up to 85% of eligible receivables and 20% of inventory (limited to $500,000). The line bears interest at the bank's prime rate 
(8.25% at December 31, 1996) and expires January 1, 1998, subject to earlier termination upon the expiration of the EXIM guaranty for the 
Power Systems line of credit. The outstanding borrowings under the Process Solutions line at December 31, 1996 was $800,000.  

The aforementioned lines of credit also contain certain covenants which restrict the Company from, among other things, incurring additional 
indebtedness, entering into merger, consolidation or acquisition transactions, disposing of all or substantially all of its assets, creating liens on 
assets, and creating guaranty obligations. Further, the Company is required to comply with certain financial ratios, including minimum levels of 
debt to net worth and cash flow to fixed obligations, and is also required to provide the bank with certain periodic financial reports.  

Other debt  

The Company entered into capital lease agreements for property, furniture and equipment, totaling $313,000, and $90,000, and $0 during the 
years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the period April 14 through December 31, 1994, respectively. These obligations bear interest at 
between 9% and 11% per annum and expire between 1998 and 1999.  

Debt maturities  

Aggregate maturities of debt as of December 31, 1996 are as follows: 1997, $2,768,000; 1998, $512,000; and 1999, $110,000.  
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11. INCOME TAXES  

The consolidated income before income tax, by domestic and foreign sources, is as follows (in thousands):  

 

The provision for income taxes is as follows (in thousands):  

 

The provision for income taxes varies from the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable U.S. statutory rate to pre-tax 
income as a result of the following:  
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                                                                               YEAR ENDED              FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                              DECEMBER 31,             APRIL 14, THROUGH  
                                                                              ------------             DECEMBER 31, 
                                                                                                       -----------------  
                                                                         1996              1995            1994 
                                                                       -------           -------         ------- 
Domestic........................................... ..............      $ 3,884           $ 3,844         $  232 
Foreign............................................ ..............          968             1,849          1,273 
                                                                        ------             -----          ----- 
                                                                       $ 4,852           $ 5,693         $1,505 
                                                                         =====             =====          ===== 

                                                                         YEAR ENDED               FOR THE PERIOD APRIL 14  
                                                                         DECEMBER 31,               TH ROUGH DECEMBER 31, 
                                                                         ------------               -- ------------------ 
                                                                 1996                  1995                 1994 
                                                                 ----                  ----                 ---- 
Current: 
    Federal........................................ .....        $ (23)                 $  210                $ 250 
    State.......................................... .....           29                      40                   35 
    Foreign........................................ .....          642                     508                  140 
                                                                 ----                   -----                 ---- 
                                                                  648                     758                  425 
                                                                 ----                   -----                 ---- 
Deferred: 
    Federal........................................ .....          186                   1,160                 (153) 
    State.......................................... .....           23                      99                  (12) 
    Foreign........................................ .....         (148)                     --                  292 
                                                                 -----                  -----                 ---- 
                                                                   61                   1,259                  127 
                                                                 -----                  -----                 ---- 
                                                                $ 709                 $ 2,017                $ 552 
                                                                 =====                  =====                 ==== 

                                                                           YEAR ENDED               FO R THE PERIOD APRIL 14  
                                                                           DECEMBER 31                THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 
                                                                           -----------                ------------------- 
                                                                        1996                1995                  1994 
                                                                        ----                ----                  ---- 
Statutory U.S. tax rate............................ .......              34.0%               34.0%                 34.0% 
State income tax, net of federal tax benefit....... .......               2.7                 2.8                   2.0 
Effect of foreign operations....................... .......              (6.6)                2.3                    -- 
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible asset s......                --                  .5                   1.9 
Reduction in valuation allowance................... .......             (19.5)               (3.4)                   -- 
Research and development credit.................... .......                --                (1.4)                   -- 
Others............................................. .......               4.0                  .6                  (1.2) 
                                                                       -----               -----                 ----- 
Effective tax rate................................. .......              14.6%               35.4%                 36.7% 
                                                                       =====               =====                 ===== 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

At December 31, 1996, the Company had available $5,772,000 of federal net operating loss carryforwards which expire between 2007 and 
2011. These carryforwards will be utilized to reduce taxable income in subsequent years. A portion of the net operating losses were generated 
by certain of the Predecessors prior to the formation of the Company and, as a result, there are limitations on the amounts that can be utilized to 
offset taxable income in a given year.  

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the 
financial statements. A summary of the tax effect of the significant components of deferred income taxes is as follows (in thousands):  

 

During 1996 and 1995, the Company reduced the valuation allowance by $1,033,000 and $1,619,000, respectively, of which $109,000 and 
$1,354,000, respectively, reduced goodwill and other intangibles arising out of the acquisition of Power Systems. The valuation allowance at 
December 31, 1996 relates to the future utilization of foreign net operating loss carry forwards that the Company has determined are not 
realizable at this time.  

12. CAPITAL STOCK  

As of December 31, 1996, the Company had 10,000,000 total shares of capital stock authorized, of which 8,000,000 are common stock and 
2,000,000 are preferred stock. As of December 31, 1996 and 1995, there are no shares of preferred stock outstanding. The Board of Directors 
has the authority to establish one or more classes of preferred stock and to determine, within any class of preferred stock, the preferences, rights 
and other terms of such class.  
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                                                                                        DECEMBER 31, 
                                                                               ----------------------- ---- 
                                                                                 1996               19 95 
                                                                               --------           ---- ---- 
                                                                             DEFERRED TAX       DEFERR ED TAX 
                                                                           ASSET/(LIABILITY)  ASSET/(L IABILITY)  
                                                                           -----------------  -------- ---------  
Contract loss reserves............................. ...................         $    --           $   1 96 
Property and equipment............................. ...................            (135)             (1 77) 
Accrued expenses................................... ...................             230               2 77 
Net operating loss carryforwards................... ...................           2,013             1,2 20 
Book reserves not deductible for tax purposes...... ...................             859             1,7 48 
Software development costs......................... ...................          (1,753)             (4 65) 
Deferred revenue................................... ..................             777               69 1 
Cash to accrual adjustment......................... ...................            (142)               -- 
Foreign tax credits ............................... ...................             214                -- 
Others............................................. ...................             147                58 
                                                                                 -----             --- -- 
                                                                                 2,210             3,5 48 
Valuation allowance................................ ...................            (187)           (1,2 20) 
                                                                                 -----             --- -- 
                                                                               $ 2,023           $ 2,3 28 
                                                                                 =====             === == 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

13. STOCK OPTIONS  

LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN  

During 1995, the Company established the 1995 Long-Term Incentive Stock Option Plan (the "Plan") which includes all officers, key 
employees and non-employee members of the Company's Board of Directors. All options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock 
under the Plan expire ten years from the date of grant and generally become exercisable in three installments with 40% vesting on the first 
anniversary of the grant date and 30% vesting on each of the second and third anniversaries of the grant date, subject to acceleration under 
certain circumstances. Under the original terms of the Plan, the Company had reserved 425,000 shares of common stock for issuance of stock 
options. During 1996, this amount was increased to 625,000 shares. Stock option activity under the Plan is as follows:  

 

The Company accounts for grants under the Plan in accordance with APB 25, "Accounting for Stock issued to Employees," and related 
interpretations. Had compensation expense been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under the Plan consistent with 
the method of SFAS 123, "Accounting for Stock Based Compensation," the Company's net income and net income per share would have been 
reduced to approximately $3,601,000 ($0.71 per share) and $3,219,000 ($0.79 per share) for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, 
respectively.  

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average 
assumptions used for grants during the year ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively: dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 
80%, risk-free interest rate of 6.41% and 6.23% and expected terms of 7 years.  

As of December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively, there were 119,000 and 0 stock options exercisable under the Plan, and the Company had 
211,634 shares of common stock reserved for the future grants under the Plan. The weighted average fair value of options granted during 1996 
and 1995 was $9.55 per share and $10.44 per share, respectively. As of December 31, 1996, the weighted average remaining contractual life of 
the options outstanding was approximately 9.3 years.  

OTHER STOCK OPTIONS  

On February 23, 1996, in exchange for services, the Company granted stock options to two consultants to acquire 10,000 shares of Common 
Stock in the aggregate at an exercise price of $14.00. These grants were not made pursuant to the Plan. These options expire on December 31, 
2000 and generally become exercisable in two installments with 50% vesting as of January 1, 1997 and the remaining 50% vesting as of 
January 1, 1998.  
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                                                       YEAR ENDED                   YEAR ENDED 
                                                    DECEMBER 31, 1996           DECEMBER 31, 1995 
                                                    -----------------           ----------------- 
                                                 SH ARES   WEIGHTED-AVERAGE   SHARES    WEIGHTED-AVERAG E 
                                                 -- ----   ----------------   ------    --------------- -  
                                                           EXERCISE PRICE               EXERCISE PRICE  
                                                           --------------               --------------  
Options outstanding beginning of period...      297 ,516       $ 14.00            --        $  -- 
Options canceled..........................      (26 ,150)       (14.07)           --           -- 
Options granted...........................      142 ,000         12.89        297,516        14.00 
                                                --- ----                      ------- 
Options outstanding end of period ........      413 ,366         13.61        297,516        14.00 
                                                === ====                      ======= 
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14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

Leases  

The Company is obligated under certain noncancelable operating leases for office facilities and equipment. Future minimum lease payments 
under noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 1996 are approximately as follows (in thousands):  

 

Total rent expense under operating leases was $1,876,000, $2,487,000 and $1,096,000 for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, and 
for the period April 14 through December 31, 1994. Rent expense in 1996 is net of amortization of $348,000 and reversal of $1,103,000 of 
excess facility costs. Rent expense in 1995 is net of amortization of $348,000 of excess facility costs. Rent expense in 1994 is net of 
amortization of $278,000 of excess facility costs. At December 31, 1996 and 1995, the Company had accrued $0 and $1,451,000, respectively, 
of excess facility costs.  

Letters of credit  

As of December 31, 1996, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries were contingently liable under letters of credit totaling $1,180,000. 
Further, the performance of certain of the Company's customer contracts is collateralized by performance guarantees totaling $4,422,000 by its 
subsidiaries' respective former parent organizations.  

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

Upon consummation of the initial public offering on August 1, 1995, a management fee of $981 per day, previously due to certain 
stockholders, was eliminated. Such management fee, was included within selling, general and administrative expenses and amounted to 
$204,000 for year ended December 31, 1995 and $257,000 for the period from April 14, 1994 through December 31, 1996.  

Power Systems subleases office space to ManTech at market price based on square footage used. For the years ended December 31, 1996 and 
1995 and for the period April 14 through December 31, 1994, such charges amounted to $67,000, $46,000 and $61,000 respectively. Power 
Systems purchased computer run-time from ManTech until April 1996; such charges amounted to $36,000, $63,000 and $89,000 in 1996 and 
1995 and for the period April 14 through December 31, 1994, respectively. GPC historically has performed services as a subcontractor on 
certain GPI contracts and GPI may continue to subcontract with GPC from time to time. For the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 and 
for the period April 14 through December 31, 1994, such subcontract costs amounted to $0, $51,000 and $89,000, respectively.  

One of the Company's subsidiaries' bi-weekly payroll is processed by a company whose owner is also a shareholder of the Company. Expenses 
incurred for such payroll processing for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 and for the period April 14, 1994 through December 31, 
1994 were $62,000, $42,000 and $19,500, respectively. The Company subleases a portion of its facilities to this related party. Sublease 
payments by the related party were approximately $4,000, $3,000 and $1,500 for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 and for the 
period April 14 through December 31, 1994, respectively.  
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1997............................................... ...................................................         $  3,127  
1998............................................... ...................................................            2,957  
1999............................................... ...................................................            2,528  
2000............................................... ...................................................            2,253  
2001............................................... ...................................................            2,192  
Thereafter......................................... ...................................................               32  
                                                                                                                ------  
                                                                                                              $ 13,089  
                                                                                                                ======  
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15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

Upon consummation of the initial public offering on August 1, 1995, a management fee of $981 per day, previously due to certain 
stockholders, was eliminated. Such management fee, was included within selling, general and administrative expenses and amounted to 
$204,000 for year ended December 31, 1995 and $257,000 for the period from April 14, 1994 through December 31, 1996.  

Power Systems subleases office space to ManTech at market price based on square footage used. For the years ended December 31, 1996 and 
1995 and for the period April 14 through December 31, 1994, such charges amounted to $67,000, $46,000 and $61,000 respectively. Power 
Systems purchased computer run-time from ManTech until April 1996; such charges amounted to $36,000, $63,000 and $89,000 in 1996 and 
1995 and for the period April 14 through December 31, 1994, respectively. GPC historically has performed services as a subcontractor on 
certain GPI contracts and GPI may continue to subcontract with GPC from time to time. For the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 and 
for the period April 14 through December 31, 1994, such subcontract costs amounted to $0, $51,000 and $89,000, respectively.  

One of the Company's subsidiaries' bi-weekly payroll is processed by a company whose owner is also a shareholder of the Company. Expenses 
incurred for such payroll processing for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 and for the period April 14, 1994 through December 31, 
1994 were $62,000, $42,000 and $19,500, respectively. The Company subleases a portion of its facilities to this related party. Sublease 
payments by the related party were approximately $4,000, $3,000 and $1,500 for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 and for the 
period April 14 through December 31, 1994, respectively.  

During 1996, the Company entered into an agreement with ManTech to provide consulting services in developing a long-term strategic growth 
plan. Consulting payments were $13,000 for the year ended December 31, 1996. The agreement also provided for a finder's fee to be paid by 
the Company to ManTech for any acquisitions made pursuant to this services arrangement. A finder's fee payment was made in the amount of 
$154,000 for the year ended December 31, 1996 in connection with the Company's acquisition of Erudite Software.  
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During 1996, the Company entered into an agreement with ManTech to provide consulting services in developing a long-term strategic growth 
plan. Consulting payments were $13,000 for the year ended December 31, 1996. The agreement also provided for a finder's fee to be paid by 
the Company to ManTech for any acquisitions made during the period of the agreement. A finder's fee payment was made in the amount of 
$154,000 for the year ended December 31, 1996 in connection with the Company's acquisition of Erudite Software.  

In November 1993, the three founding shareholders of Erudite Software sold an aggregate of 2,000 shares of common stock on a pro-rata basis 
to two other individuals in exchange for demand notes totaling $200,000 with no stated interest rate. These notes were collateralized by the 
shares of common stock received by the two individuals. The founding shareholders immediately transferred the $200,000 in notes receivable 
from the new shareholders to Erudite Software in exchange for notes due from Erudite Software on demand with no stated interest rate. For 
financial reporting purposes, the notes receivable from the new shareholders were included as a part of stockholders' equity in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheet until such time as the notes receivable were fully collected and the shares of common stock no longer 
represented collateral against the notes. For the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, the notes receivable from stockholders were reduced 
through cash receipts of $0 and $15,000, respectively, and through services provided to Erudite Software of $2,000 and $58,000. For the period 
April 14, 1994 to December 31, 1994, the notes receivable from stockholders were reduced through cash receipts of $25,000, and through 
services provided to Erudite Software of $50,000. The services provided to Erudite Software have been valued based upon salaries, bonuses 
and commissions earned by these two individuals. These notes receivable were reduced to $0 during the year ended December 31, 1995. For 
the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 cash payments to the founding shareholders in satisfaction of the note payable totaled $189,000 
and $11,000, respectively. As of December 31, 1996 and 1995, the notes payable to the founding shareholders had a balance of $0 and 
$189,000, respectively.  

16. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  

The Company currently maintains non-qualified and qualified supplemental defined benefit plans for certain retired employees. During 1996 
the Company began the process of terminating the defined benefit plan. The IRS has issued a favorable determination letter and the Pension 
Benefit Guarantee Corporation is considering the plan termination. The plan is fully funded for all accrued benefits. The Company has 
recognized an expense of $124,000 during 1996 related to the termination of the plan. Net periodic pension expense of $29,000 was recognized 
for each of the periods ended December 31, 1995 and 1994. The recorded unfunded liability related to these plans was $0 as of December 31, 
1996 and $132,000 as of December 31, 1995. Due to the immateriality of these plans, actuarial plan information has not been presented.  

The Company also has a qualified defined contribution plan that covers substantially all employees and complies with Section 401(k) of the 
Internal Revenue Code. Under this plan, the Company's stipulated basic matching contribution matches a portion of the participants' 
contributions based upon a defined schedule. Contributions are invested by an independent investment company in one or more of several 
investment alternatives. The choice of investment alternatives is at the election of each participating employee. The Company's contributions to 
the plan were approximately $671,000, $484,000, and $134,000 the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, and for the period April 14 
through December 31, 1994, respectively.  
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17. FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA  

The Company operates in a single industry segment: it designs, develops and delivers business and technology solutions to the energy, process 
and manufacturing industries worldwide. Revenue, operating income and identifiable assets for the Company's United States, European and 
Asian operations are as follows (in thousands).  

 

 

 

The Company has intercompany distribution arrangements with its subsidiaries. The basis of these arrangements, disclosed as transfers 
between geographic locations, is principally at market prices.  
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                                                                        YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996 
                                             ------ --------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
                                                 UN ITED STATES      EUROPE        ASIA       ELIMINATI ONS     CONSOLIDATED  
                                                 -- -----------      ------        ----       --------- ---     ------------  
Revenue.....................................        $ 83,263        $ 9,026     $  3,744      $      - -         $ 96,033 
 
Transfers between geographic locations......             659             --         622          (1,28 1)              -- 
                                                     -------         ------      ------        ------- --         ------- 
 
Total revenue...............................        $ 83,922        $ 9,026     $ 4,366       $  (1,28 1)        $ 96,033 
                                                     =======         ======      ======        ======= ==         ======= 
 
Income from operations......................        $  3,832        $ 1,267     $  (452)      $     19 8         $  4,845 
                                                     =======         ======      ======        ======= ==         ======= 
Identifiable assets.........................        $ 54,584        $ 6,416     $ 3,057       $ (13,05 1)        $ 51,006 
                                                     =======         ======      ======        ======= ==         ======= 

                                                                      YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995 
                                             ------ --------------------------------------------------- -------------------  
                                              UNITE D STATES      EUROPE         ASIA      ELIMINATIONS     CONSOLIDATED 
                                              ----- --------      ------         ----      ------------     ------------ 
Revenue.....................................    $ 8 7,009        $ 7,050       $ 2,001       $    --         $ 96,060 
Transfers between geographic locations......       1,173            --             --         (1,173)             -- 
                                                 -- -----         ------        ------        --------        ------- 
Total revenue...............................    $ 8 8,182        $ 7,050       $ 2,001       $ (1,173)       $ 96,060 
                                                 == =====         ======        ======        ========        ======= 
 
Income from operations......................    $  5,028        $ 1,628       $     7       $   (351)       $  6,312 
                                                 == =====         ======        ======        ========        ======= 
Identifiable assets.........................    $ 4 9,958        $ 7,298       $ 2,337       $ (4,905)       $ 54,688 
                                                 == =====         ======        ======        ========        ======= 

                                                        FOR THE PERIOD APRIL 14 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 1 994 
                                             ------ --------------------------------------------------- ---------------  
                                                UNI TED STATES        EUROPE         ELIMINATIONS       CONSOLIDATED 
                                                --- ----------        ------         ------------       ------------ 
Revenue.....................................      $  32,851          $ 4,234         $     --             $ 37,085 
Transfers between geographic locations......           550               50             (600)                  -- 
                                                   -------           ------          --------             ------- 
Total revenue...............................      $  33,401          $ 4,284         $   (600)            $ 37,085 
                                                   =======           ======          ========             ======= 
 
Income from operations......................      $   1,132          $ 1,183         $   (600)            $  1,715 
                                                   =======           ======          ========             ======= 
Identifiable assets.........................      $  40,623          $ 3,639         $ (2,150)            $ 42,112 
                                                   =======           ======          ========             ======= 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
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Domestic and export sales from the Company's United States operations in thousands of dollars and as a percentage of revenue are as follows:  
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                                                                                                          FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                         YEAR ENDED DECEMBER        YEAR ENDED           APRIL 14 THROUGH 
                                                              31, 1996           DECEMBER 31, 1995       DECEMBER 31, 1994 
                                                              --------           -----------------       ----------------- 
Domestic                                                 $ 47,868    57.5%       $ 45,222     52.0%       $ 11,361    34.6%  
Export: 
      Germany...................................... ....     9,236    11.1           8,039      9.2           6,336    19.3 
      Remaining Western Europe..................... ....     2,806     3.4          12,400     14.3           5,578    17.0 
      Russia....................................... ....     7,716     9.2           9,135     10.5           6,413    19.5 
      Remaining Eastern Europe..................... ....    11,070    13.3           4,547      5.2             961     2.9 
      Asia......................................... ....     3,910     4.7           6,853      7.9           2,202     6.7 
      South America and others..................... ....       657     0.8             813      0.9              --      -- 
                                                          -------   ------        -------    ------        -------   ------  
                                                         $ 83,263   100.0%       $ 87,009    100.0%       $ 32,851   100.0%  
                                                          =======   ======        =======    ======        =======   ======  



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS  

To The Board of Directors and Stockholders of GSE Power Systems, Inc. and MSHI, Inc.  

We have audited the consolidated statements of operations, stockholder's equity and cash flows for the period January 1, 1994 through April 
13, 1994 of GSE Power Systems, Inc. (formerly Simulation, Systems & Services Technologies Company) and its immediate parent company, 
MSHI, Inc. (formerly a wholly-owned subsidiary of ManTech International Corporation). These financial statements are the responsibility of 
the companies' management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated results of operations and cash 
flows of GSE Power Systems, Inc. and its immediate parent company, MSHI, Inc. for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994, in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.  

Coopers & Lybrand L.L.P.  

Washington, D.C.  
March 31, 1995  
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SIMULATION, SYSTEMS & SERVICES TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY   
(INCLUDING ITS IMMEDIATE PARENT MSHI, INC.)  

(FORMERLY A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF MANTECH INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS  
(IN THOUSANDS)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                                   FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                   JANUARY 1, 1994  
                                                                     TO APRIL 13, 
                                                                          1994 
                                                                   ---------------  
Contract revenue .................................. .............        $ 8,271 
Cost of revenue ................................... .............          5,943 
                                                                        ------- 
Gross profit ...................................... .............          2,328 
Operating Expenses: 
   Selling, general and administrative ............ .............          1,473 
   Depreciation and amortization .................. .............            324 
                                                                        ------- 
   Total operating expenses ....................... .............          1,797 
                                                                        ------- 
   Operating income ............................... .............            531 
Interest expense .................................. .............             40 
Other income ...................................... .............             (3) 
   Income before income taxes and cumulative                            ------- 
   effect of change in accounting principle ....... .............            494 
Provision for income taxes ........................ .............            444 
   Net income before cumulative effect                                  ------- 
   of change in accounting principle .............. .............             50 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle  ............             -- 
                                                                        ------- 
   Net income ..................................... .............        $    50 
                                                                        ======= 



SIMULATION, SYSTEMS & SERVICES TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY   
(INCLUDING ITS IMMEDIATE PARENT MSHI, INC.)  

(FORMERLY A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF MANTECH INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY  
(IN THOUSANDS)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                COM MON      ADDITIONAL        RETAINED  
                                                 ST OCK    PAID-IN-CAPITAL     EARNINGS  
                                                 -- ---    ---------------     --------  
 
Balance, December 31, 1993 ..............            1                49          105 
 
Net income ..............................           --                --           50 
                                                 -- ---             -----        ----- 
Balance, April 13, 1994 .................         $   1              $ 49         $155 
                                                 == ===             =====        ===== 



SIMULATION, SYSTEMS & SERVICES TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY   
(INCLUDING ITS IMMEDIATE PARENT MSHI, INC.)  

(FORMERLY A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF MANTECH INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
(IN THOUSANDS)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                                     FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                     JANUARY 1, 1994 
                                                                       TO APRIL 13, 
                                                                           1994 
                                                                     ----------------  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
Net income ........................................ ...............      $    50 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net c ash 
  provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization ..................... ...............          324 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash pro vided 
  by operating activities: 
 Contract receivables ............................. ...............       (1,683) 
 Inventories ...................................... ...............          (13) 
 Foreign currency options ......................... ...............          472 
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets ........ ...............         (223) 
 Deferred tax assets .............................. ...............          942 
 Other assets ..................................... ...............           -- 
 Accounts payable ................................. ...............         (257) 
 Accrued salaries ................................. ...............          (90) 
 Billings in excess of revenue earned ............. ...............        5,228 
 Accrued facility costs ........................... ...............          (14) 
 Accrued contract and warranty reserves ........... ...............       (1,536) 
 Accrued retirement ............................... ...............            9 
                                                                         ------ 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities  ..............        3,209 
                                                                         ------ 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
Purchase of S3 Technologies, net of acquired cash . ...............           -- 
Purchase of property and equipment ................ ...............         (276) 
Investment in joint ventures ...................... ...............           -- 
                                                                         ------ 
Net cash used in investing activities ............. ...............         (276) 
                                                                         ------ 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
Borrowings ........................................ ...............        2,719 
Repayment of borrowings ........................... ...............         (208) 
Proceeds from sale of common stock ................ ...............           -- 
Principal payments under capital lease ............ ...............          (15) 
Increase (decrease) in payable to stockholder ..... ...............       (5,487) 
                                                                         ------ 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  ..............       (2,991) 
                                                                         ------ 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent s .............          (58) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period .. ...............           58 
                                                                         ------ 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ........ ...............      $     0 
                                                                         ====== 



SIMULATION, SYSTEMS & SERVICES TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY   
(INCLUDING ITS IMMEDIATE PARENT MSHI, INC.)  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. BUSINESS  

Simulation, Systems & Services Technologies Company is a designer, developer and supplier of high fidelity real-time simulation software, 
systems and services in the energy and manufacturing industries.  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Basis of presentation  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements represent the accounts of Simulation, Systems & Services Technologies Company and its 
immediate parent MSHI, Inc. (together referred to as "S3 Technologies"). MSHI, Inc. was a wholly-owned subsidiary of ManTech 
International Corporation ("ManTech") until April 13, 1994, at which time it became part of GSE Systems, Inc. (See Note 11.) All 
intercompany transactions have been eliminated.  

The consolidated financial statements presented reflect allocations of costs for general and administrative expenses and income taxes. Such 
costs and expenses have been allocated to the Company based on actual usage or other methods (i.e., proportional allocational method) that 
approximate actual usage. Management believes that the allocation methods used are reasonable and that allocated costs and expenses 
approximate what such amounts would be if the Company had operated on a stand alone basis.  

Property and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method with estimated useful lives ranging from three to seven years. Leasehold 
improvements are amortized over the life of the lease or the estimated useful life, whichever is shorter, using the straight-line method. Upon 
sale or retirement, the cost and related accumulated depreciation or amortization are eliminated from the respective accounts and any resulting 
gain or loss is included in income. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.  

Intangible assets consist of amounts relating to goodwill, backlog and proposal values, all arising from acquisitions. These amounts are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over periods ranging from three to four years for backlog and proposal values and fifteen years for goodwill.  
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Revenue Recognition  

Revenue under long-term fixed-price contracts generally is accounted for on the percentage-of-completion method, based on contract costs 
incurred to date and estimated costs to complete. Estimated contract earnings are reviewed and revised periodically as the work progresses and 
the cumulative effect of any change is recognized in the period in which the change is determined. Estimated losses are charged against 
earnings in the period such losses are identified. Revenues from sales of other products are recorded when the products are shipped. The 
Company has no significant vendor obligations or collectibility risk associated with its product sales.  

Research and development  

Development expenditures incurred to meet customer specifications under contracts accounted for under the percentage of completion method 
are charged to contract costs. Company sponsored research and development expenditures are charged to operations as incurred and are 
included in selling, general and administrative expenses. The amounts incurred for Company sponsored research and development activities 
relating to the development of new products and services or the improvement of existing products and services were approximately $343,000 
for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  

Warranties  

As the Company recognizes revenue under the percentage of completion method, it provides an accrual for estimated future warranty costs on 
historical and projected claims experience.  

Income Taxes  

Through April 13, 1994, the Company was included in the consolidated federal income tax returns of ManTech. As such, the income and losses 
generated by the Company are used on an annual basis to reduce the overall tax liability of the other members of the consolidated group. The 
Company is reimbursed for the benefit provided to the consolidated group.  

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, effective January 1, 1992 and the 
cumulative effect of this change is reflected in the statement of operations. Under this standard, deferred income taxes are provided under the 
asset and liability method. This method requires recognition of deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax consequences of 
events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred income taxes are determined based on the 
difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the 
differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected 
to be realized. Income tax expense consists of the Company's current liability, computed on a separate company basis, for federal and state 
income taxes and the change in the Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities.  
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Concentration of credit risk  

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of contract receivables. Credit risk 
on contract receivables is mitigated by the nature of the Company's worldwide customer base and its credit policies. The Company's customers 
are not concentrated in any specific geographic region, but are concentrated in the energy and manufacturing industries. The Company 
performs credit evaluation before extending credit and may require letters of credit, bank guarantees or advance payments. Thereafter, the 
Company continues to monitor its contract receivables exposure after giving effect to letters of credit, bank guarantees, the status of the work 
performed on the contract, or its customers' financial condition.  

Off balance sheet risk and foreign exchange contracts  

The Company enters into forward exchange contracts and options as a hedge against certain foreign currency commitments. The Company also 
enters into letters of credit and performance guarantees in the ordinary course of business as required by certain contracts and proposal 
requirements.  

A significant portion of the Company's international revenue is received in a currency other than the currency in which the expenses relating to 
such revenue are paid. The Company attempts to offset or "hedge" its foreign currency exposure primarily by entering into foreign currency 
exchange agreements and purchasing foreign currency options. The former require the Company on a specified date, or during a specified 
period to exchange a set amount of foreign currency for United States dollars or another base currency at a specified exchange rate. The latter 
provide the Company with the option to exchange foreign currency for United States dollars or another base currency during a specified period 
or at a specified exchange rate. The Company utilizes these foreign exchange agreements and options only to reduce the impact of foreign 
currency fluctuations on its operating results and does not engage in foreign currency speculation. Foreign exchange contracts do not expose 
the Company to material risk because any losses on the contracts are offset by gains on the value of the foreign receivables being hedged. 
Foreign exchange options do not expose the Company to material risk since the Company has the right not to exercise the option.  

Foreign exchange contacts have an element of risk that the counterparty may not be able to meet the terms of the agreement. However, the 
Company minimizes such risk exposure by limiting counterparties to Paine Webber Financial Products Inc. and NationsBank, N.A. 
("NationsBank"). Management believes that the risk of incurring such losses is immaterial. The Company has also entered into foreign 
exchange option contracts with NationsBank which permit but do not require the Company to exchange foreign currencies at a future date with 
the bank at a contracted exchange rate. Costs associated with such contracts are amortized over the life of the contract matching the underlying 
receipts.  

The fair values of foreign exchange forward contracts and foreign exchange options are estimated by obtaining quotes for such contracts with 
similar terms, adjusted where necessary for maturity differences. However, such fair values are offset by gains or losses on assets and liabilities 
hedged by such contracts and options. Furthermore, the costs of the contracts and options are included in the Company's estimates of costs and 
earnings on its long-term fixed price contracts. Accordingly, there is no significant difference between the recorded value and fair value of the 
Company's net foreign exchange position.  

Fixed-price contracts generated 89% of total revenue for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  
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4. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION EXPENSE  

Depreciation expense for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994, was $148,000.  

Amortization expense for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994 was $176,000.  

5. CAPITAL LEASE EXPENSE  

Interest paid under this lease was $8,000 for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  

6. INCOME TAXES  

The provisions (benefit) for income taxes on pre-tax earnings are as follows (in thousands):  

 

The provision for income taxes varies from the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable U.S. statutory tax rate to pre-tax 
income as a result of the following:  

 

At April 13, 1994 the Company had available $3,962,000 of net operating loss carryforwards which expire in 2007. These carryforwards will 
be utilized to reduce taxable income in subsequent years. The net operating losses were generated prior to the acquisition of the Company and 
there are limitations on the amounts that can be utilized to offset taxable income in a given year.  

7. RETIREMENT PLANS  

The Company maintains a non-qualified supplemental defined benefit pension plan for certain retired employees. The amounts related to this 
plan are not material.  

The Company also maintains a qualified defined benefit pension plan for certain union employees. Pension  
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                                                       FOR THE PERIOD  
                                                          JANUARY 1, 
                                                         TO APRIL 13,  
                                                              1994 
                                                              ---- 
Current tax expense (benefit)......................          $ (498) 
Deferred tax expense...............................             942 
                                                               --- 
   Total provision (benefit).......................          $  444 
                                                               === 

                                                       FOR THE PERIOD  
                                                          JANUARY 1, 
                                                         TO APRIL 13,  
                                                             1994 
                                                             ---- 
Statutory U.S. tax rate..........................            34.0% 
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from: 
    State taxes, net of Federal benefit..........             2.8% 
    Change in the valuation allowance............            52.8% 
    Goodwill amortization........................             0.2% 
    Other........................................             0.1% 
                                                             ----- 
         Effective tax rate......................            89.9% 
                                                             ===== 



SIMULATION, SYSTEMS & SERVICES TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY   
(INCLUDING ITS IMMEDIATE PARENT MSHI, INC.)  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

expense for this plan was $29,000 for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  

The Company established a qualified defined contribution plan during the first quarter of 1993, which covers substantially all employees, that 
complies with Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under this plan, the Company's stipulated basic matching contribution matches a 
portion of the participants' contributions based upon a defined schedule. Contributions are invested by an independent investment company in 
one or more of several investment alternatives. The choice of investment alternatives is at the election of each participating employee. The 
Company's contributions to the plan were $63,000 for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  

8. RENT EXPENSE  

Rent expense totaled $404,000 for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994. Rent expense is net of amortization of $167,000 for 
the period ended April 13, 1994 for excess facility costs.  

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

Corporate allocations for overhead and general and administrative expenses were $145,000 for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 
13, 1994.  

10. GEOGRAPHIC AND MAJOR CUSTOMER INFORMATION  

The Company earns a significant portion of its revenues from contracts outside of the United States, although it has no foreign operations. 
Revenues from these international sales are as follows (in thousands):  

 

No customer accounted for 10% or more of revenues for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  

11. FORMATION OF GSE SYSTEMS, INC.  

On April 13, 1994, the parent companies of the Company, GP International Engineering & Simulation, Inc., and EuroSim AB consolidated the 
operations of these subsidiaries into a new company, GSE Systems, Inc.  
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                                                      FOR THE PERIOD  
                                                        JANUARY 1, 
                                                       TO APRIL 13, 
                                                           1994 
                                                      --------------  
Germany............................................        $2,247 
Russia.............................................           714 
Remaining Europe...................................         1,330 
China..............................................            28 
South Korea........................................         1,140 
Taiwan.............................................           398 
Remaining Asia.....................................             9 
Other regions......................................            -- 
                                                          ------ 
   Total international revenues....................        $5,866 
                                                          ====== 



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS  

To The Board of Directors and Stockholder of GP International Engineering & Simulation, Inc.  

We have audited the statements of operations, stockholder's deficit and cash flows of GP International Engineering & Simulation, Inc. (the 
"Company"), formerly a wholly-owned subsidiary of GPS Technologies, Inc. (now known as SGLG, Inc.), for the period January 1, 1994 
through April 13, 1994. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations and cash flows of GP 
International Engineering & Simulation, Inc. for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994, in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles.  

COOPERS & LYBRAND L.L.P.  

Washington, D.C.  
March 31, 1995  
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GP INTERNATIONAL ENGINEERING & SIMULATION INC.  

(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF GPS TECHNOLOGIES, INC.  

 
(NOW KNOWN AS SGLG, INC.))  

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
(IN THOUSANDS)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

F-33  

                                                                                       FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                                          JANUARY 1, 
                                                                                       THROUGH APRIL 1 3,  
                                                                                             1994 
                                                                                       --------------- --  
Contract revenue................................... .................................      $ 3,642 
Cost of revenue.................................... .................................        2,905 
                                                                                            ----- 
                                                                                              737 
 
Operating expenses: 
        Selling, general and administrative........ .................................          381 
        Depreciation and amortization.............. .................................           26 
                                                                                            ----- 
                                                                                              407 
                                                                                              --- 
 
                                                                                              330 
Other expenses..................................... .................................            3 
                                                                                            ----- 
                                                                                              327 
 
Provision for income taxes......................... .................................          121 
                                                                                            ----- 
        Net income ................................ .................................      $   206 
                                                                                            ===== 



GP INTERNATIONAL ENGINEERING & SIMULATION INC.  

(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF GPS TECHNOLOGY INC.  

 
(NOW KNOWN AS SGLG, INC.))  

STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDER'S DEFICIT  
(IN THOUSANDS)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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                                                                                                    CO MMON     ACCUMULATED 
                                                                                                     S TOCK       DEFICIT 
                                                                                                     - -----     -----------  
Balance, December 31, 1993......................... ...........................................        $   1      $  (3,656)  
Net income......................................... ...........................................           --            206 
                                                                                                      -----       -------- 
Balance, April 13, 1994............................ ...........................................        $   1      $  (3,450)  
                                                                                                      =====       ======== 



GP INTERNATIONAL ENGINEERING & SIMULATION INC.  

(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF GPS TECHNOLOGY INC.  

 
(NOW KNOWN AS SGLG, INC.))  

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
(IN THOUSANDS)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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                                                                             FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                               JANUARY 1, 
                                                                             THROUGH APRIL 13,  
                                                                                   1994 
                                                                             -----------------  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
   Net Income ..................................... ............................   $ 206 
   Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in 
      operating activities: 
        Depreciation and amortization ............. ............................     146 
        Change in assets and liabilities: 
          Contract receivables .................... ............................    (153) 
          Prepaid expenses and other .............. ............................      (9) 
          Accounts payable ........................ ............................     537 
          Accrued salaries and related expenses ... ............................    (168) 
          Billings in excess of revenue earned .... ............................    (893) 
          Accrued warranty reserves ............... ............................     281 
          Accrued contract reserves ............... ............................    (146) 
                                                                                  ----- 
Net cash used in operating activities ............. ............................    (199) 
                                                                                  ----- 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
   Purchases of property, equipment, and software . ............................     (39) 
                                                                                  ----- 
Net cash used in investing activities ............. ............................     (39) 
                                                                                  ----- 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
   Due to GPS Technologies, Inc. .................. ............................     225 
                                                                                  ----- 
Net cash provided by financing activities ......... ............................     225 
                                                                                  ----- 
 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ......... ............................     (13) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period .. ............................      13 
                                                                                  ----- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ........ ............................   $  -- 
                                                                                  ====== 



GP INTERNATIONAL ENGINEERING & SIMULATION INC.  

(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF GPS TECHNOLOGY INC.  

 
(NOW KNOWN AS SGLG, INC.))  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. BUSINESS  

GP International Engineering & Simulation, Inc. ("GPI") is a designer, developer and supplier of high fidelity real-time simulation software, 
systems and services in the energy and manufacturing industries.  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Basis of presentation  

The accompanying financial statements represents the accounts of GPI, a wholly owned subsidiary of GPS Technologies, Inc. (hereinafter 
"GPS" and now known as SGLG, Inc.), until April 13, 1994, at which time it became part of GSE Systems, Inc. (See Note 8.)  

The financial statements presented reflect allocations of costs of shared facilities, overhead, general and administrative expenses and income 
taxes. Such costs and expenses have been allocated to the Company based on actual usages or other methods (i.e., proportional cost allocation 
method) that approximate actual usage. Management believes that the allocation methods used are reasonable and that allocated costs and 
expenses approximate what such amounts would be if the Company had operated on a standalone basis.  

Revenue recognition  

Revenue under long-term fixed-price contracts generally is accounted for on the percentage-of-completion method, based on contract costs 
incurred to date and estimated costs to complete. Estimated contract earnings are reviewed and revised periodically as the work progresses and 
the cumulative effect of any change is recognized in the period in which the change is determined. Estimated losses are charged against 
earnings in the period such losses are identified. The remaining liability for contract costs to be incurred in excess of contract revenue is 
reflected as accrued contract reserves in the Company's balance sheet. Revenue from sales of other products is recorded when the products are 
shipped. The Company has no significant vendor obligations or collectibility risk associated with its product sales.  

Software development amortization  

Amortization of software development costs is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of the product of five 
years. Amortization expense was approximately $120,000 for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  
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GP INTERNATIONAL ENGINEERING & SIMULATION INC.  

(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF GPS TECHNOLOGY INC.  

 
(NOW KNOWN AS SGLG, INC.))  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Research and development  

Development expenditures incurred to meet customer specifications under contracts accounted for under the percentage of completion method 
are charged to contract costs. Company sponsored research and development expenditures are charged to operations as incurred and are 
included in selling, general and administrative expenses. The amounts incurred for research and development activities relating to the 
development of new products and services or the improvement of existing products and services were approximately $203,000 for the period 
January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  

Warranties  

As the Company recognizes revenue under the percentage of completion method, it provides an accrual for estimated future warranty costs 
based on historical and projected claims experience.  

Income Taxes  

The Company was included in the consolidated federal income tax return of GPS. As such, the income and losses generated by the Company 
are used on an annual basis to reduce the overall tax liability of the other members of the consolidated group. The Company is reimbursed for 
the benefit provided to the consolidated group. The Company files separate income tax returns in the state jurisdictions in which it operates.  

GPS allocates its federal consolidated tax provision (benefit) to its subsidiaries based on each subsidiary's proportionate share of its income or 
loss to the consolidated totals, after adjusting for each subsidiary's permanent differences arising between financial and tax reporting basis. The 
allocated tax provision (benefit) approximates the Company's tax provision (benefit) had income taxes been calculated on a standalone basis. 
The resulting income tax payable (or receivable) is recorded as an intercompany amount due to (or from) GPS.  

Concentration of credit risk  

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of contract receivables. Credit risk 
on contract receivables is mitigated by the nature of the Company's worldwide customer base and its credit policies. The Company's customers 
are not concentrated in any specific geographic region, but are concentrated in the energy and manufacturing industries. The Company 
performs credit evaluation before extending credit and may require letters of credit, bank guarantees or advance payments. Thereafter, the 
Company continues to monitor its contract receivables exposure after giving effect to letters of credit, bank guarantees, the status of the work 
performed on the contract, and its customer's financial condition.  

Off balance sheet risk and foreign exchange contracts  

GPS has entered into forward exchange contracts on behalf of the Company. Foreign exchange forward contracts are legal agreements between 
two parties to purchase and sell a foreign currency for a price specified at the contract date, with delivery and settlement in the future. The 
Company uses such contracts to hedge risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates associated with certain assets, liabilities and firm 
future revenue commitments denominated in foreign currency.  
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GP INTERNATIONAL ENGINEERING & SIMULATION INC.  

(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF GPS TECHNOLOGY INC.  

 
(NOW KNOWN AS SGLG, INC.))  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

3. DEPRECIATION EXPENSE  

Depreciation expense for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994 was $26,000.  

4. INCOME TAXES  

The provisions (benefit) for income taxes were as follows (in thousands):  

 

The provision for income taxes varies from the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable U.S. statutory tax rate to pre-tax 
income as a result the following:  

 

At April 13, 1994, the Company had available $256,000 of net operating loss carryforwards that will expire by 2008. These carryforwards will 
be utilized to reduce taxable income in subsequent years.  

5. RETIREMENT PLANS  

The Company has a qualified defined contribution plan that covers substantially all employees and complies with Section 401(k) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. Under this plan, the Company's stipulated basic matching contribution matches a portion of the participants' contributions based 
upon a defined schedule. Contributions are invested by an independent investment company in one or more of several investment alternatives. 
The choice of investment alternatives is at the election of each participating employee. The Company's contribution to the plan was $24,000 for 
the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  
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                                                                               FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                                  JANUARY 1, 
                                                                              THROUGH APRIL 13,  
                                                                                     1994 
                                                                                     ---- 
Current provision (benefit)........................ ......................           $  (1) 
Deferred provision (benefit)....................... ......................             122 
                                                                                      --- 
                                                                                    $ 121 
                                                                                      === 

                                                                               FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                                  JANUARY 1, 
                                                                               THROUGH APRIL 13,  
                                                                                     1994 
                                                                                     ---- 
Statutory U.S. tax rate............................ ...........................        34.0% 
State taxes, net of Federal benefit................ ............................        2.7% 
                                                                                      ---- 
                                                                                      36.7% 
                                                                                      ==== 



GP INTERNATIONAL ENGINEERING & SIMULATION INC.  

(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF GPS TECHNOLOGY INC.  

 
(NOW KNOWN AS SGLG, INC.))  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

Corporate allocations for overhead and general and administrative expenses were $244,000 the period January 1 through April 13, 1994.  

7. GEOGRAPHIC AND MAJOR CUSTOMER INFORMATION  

The Company earns a significant portion of its revenues from contracts outside of the United States, although it has no foreign operations. 
Revenues from these international sales were as follows (in thousands):  

 

The Company earned revenues of $642,000 from a customer for the period January 1, 1994, through April 13, 1994. The Company earned 
revenues of $1,741,000 from a second customer during the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  

8. FORMATION OF GSE SYSTEMS, INC.  

On April 13, 1994, the parent companies of the Company, Simulation, Systems & Services Technologies Company and EuroSim AB 
consolidated the operations of these subsidiaries into a new company, GSE Systems, Inc.  
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                                                                                    FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                                      JANUARY 1, 
                                                                                   THROUGH APRIL 13, 
                                                                                         1994 
                                                                                   ------------------  
Taiwan............................................. .............................      $   57 
Czech Republic..................................... .............................         286 
Great Britain...................................... .............................         642 
Russia............................................. .............................       1,801 
Other regions...................................... .............................         366 
                                                                                       ----- 
 Total international revenues                                                         $3,152 
                                                                                       ===== 



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS  

To The Board of Director and Stockholder of GSE Power Systems AB  

We have audited the statements of operations, stockholder's equity and cash flows of GSE Power Systems AB (formerly EuroSim AB) (the 
"Company"), formerly a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vattenfall Engineering AB, for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations and cash flows of GSE 
Power Systems AB for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States.  

COOPERS & LYBRAND  

Stockholm, Sweden  
April 21, 1995  
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EUROSIM AB  
(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF VATTENFALL ENGINEERING AB)  

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS  
(IN THOUSANDS)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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                                                                                   FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                                      JANUARY 1, 
                                                                                   THROUGH APRIL 13,  
                                                                                         1994 
                                                                                   -----------------  
Contract revenue................................... ....................                 $1,597 
Cost of revenue.................................... ....................                    734 
                                                                                        ------ 
    Gross profit................................... ....................                    863 
                                                                                        ------ 
 
Operating expenses: 
    Selling, general and administrative............ ....................                    440 
    Depreciation and amortization.................. ....................                     29 
                                                                                        ------ 
                                                                                           469 
                                                                                        ------ 
                                                                                           394 
Interest Expense................................... ....................                      1 
Other income....................................... ....................                    (43) 
                                                                                        ------ 
    Income before income taxes..................... ....................                    436 
Provision for income taxes......................... ....................                    122 
                                                                                        ------ 
    Net income .................................... ....................                 $  314 
                                                                                        ====== 



EUROSIM AB  
(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF VATTENFALL ENGINEERING AB)  

STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY  
(IN THOUSANDS)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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                                                                                ADDITIONAL      FOREIG N 
                                                                    COMMON       PAID-IN      TRANSLAT ION      RETAINED 
                                                                    STOCK        CAPITAL       ADJUSTM ENT      EARNINGS 
                                                                    --------     --------     -------- ---     ----------  
Balance, December 31, 1993......................... ...........        $ 175       $ 210         $ (96)            $   64 
Net Income......................................... ...........           --          --            --               314 
Translation adjustment............................. ...........           --          --             8                -- 
                                                                       ----        ----          ----             ----- 
Balance, April 13, 1994............................ ...........        $ 175       $ 210         $ (88)            $  378 
                                                                       ====        ====          ====             ===== 



EUROSIM AB  
(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF VATTENFALL ENGINEERING AB)  

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
(IN THOUSANDS)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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                                                                                      FOR THE PERIOD  
                                                                                         JANUARY 1, 
                                                                                         THROUGH 
                                                                                      APRIL 13, 1994  
                                                                                      --------------  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
   Net income ..................................... ..........................            $   314 
   Adjustments to reconcile net income 
     to net cash provided by 
      operating activities: 
      Depreciation and amortization................ ..........................                 29 
         Change in assets and liabilities: 
Contract receivables............................... ...........................              (577) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets.......... ...........................                66 
Accounts payable................................... ...........................               158 
Accrued expenses................................... ...........................               (25) 
Income tax payable................................. ...........................               122 
Billings in excess of revenue earned............... ...........................               617 
Accrued contract reserves.......................... ...........................               381 
                                                                                          ------ 
Net cash provided by operating activities                                                  1,085 
                                                                                          ------ 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
   Purchases of property and equipment............. ..........................                (36) 
                                                                                          ------ 
Net cash used in investing activities.............. ..........................                (36) 
                                                                                          ------ 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
   Decrease in amounts due to stockholder.......... ..........................             (1,287) 
                                                                                          ------ 
Net cash used in financing activities.............. ..........................             (1,287) 
                                                                                          ------ 
Effects of exchange rate on cash................... ..........................                  8 
                                                                                          ------ 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents.......... ..........................               (230) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period... ..........................              2,500 
                                                                                          ------ 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period......... ..........................            $ 2,270 
                                                                                          ====== 



EUROSIM AB  
(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF VATTENFALL ENGINEERING AB)  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. BUSINESS  

EuroSim AB ("EuroSim" or the "Company") is a designer, developer and supplier of high fidelity real-time simulation software, systems and 
services for the energy and manufacturing industries.  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Basis of presentation  

The accompanying financial statements represent the accounts of EuroSim. EuroSim was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vattenfall Engineering 
AB ("Vattenfall Engineering") until April 13, 1994, at which time it became a wholly-owned subsidiary of GSE Systems, Inc. (See Note 11.) 
Vattenfall Engineering was wholly-owned by Vattenfall AB ("Vattenfall") and was absorbed by Vattenfall effective January 1, 1995. Effective 
January 1, 1992, Vattenfall became a government-owned Swedish corporation. Prior to January 1, 1992, Vattenfall was a public entity 
governed by special public rules.  

The Company was formed in 1990. The Company's records are maintained in accordance with Swedish laws and reporting requirements. These 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") and have 
been translated into U.S. dollars.  

The financial statements presented reflect allocations of costs of services, insurance and consulting fees for all periods presented. Such costs 
and expenses have been allocated to the Company based on actual usage. Management believes that the allocation methods used are reasonable 
and that allocated costs and expenses approximate what such amounts would be if the Company had operated on a stand-alone basis.  

Foreign currency translation  

The functional currency for the Company's operations is the Swedish krona. The translation from Swedish krona to U.S. dollars is performed 
for the balance sheet accounts using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts using a 
weighted average exchange rate during the period. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded directly into a separate component of 
stockholder's equity.  

Contributions to and from Vattenfall Engineering  

The Company has given group contributions to Vattenfall Engineering during 1993. Group contributions are principally made to transfer 
taxable income from one group entity with the objective of reducing the group's total current tax expenses. These contributions lead to a taxable 
income for the recipient and a taxable expense for the donor. The Company's annual current tax expense has therefore been impacted by the 
group contributions. Since the contributions are permanent differences for tax purposes, no deferred tax accounting related to group 
contributions has been applied.  

For Swedish statutory reporting purposes, group contributions are accounted for as an appropriation in the statement of operations. This 
accounting methodology is utilized primarily to obtain an agreement between a company's financial statement income and taxable income. 
Group contributions are thus not related to a company's operations. For U.S. GAAP purposes, group contributions provided have been treated 
as a transfer from stockholder's equity.  
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EUROSIM AB  
(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF VATTENFALL ENGINEERING AB)  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of less than three 
months at the date of purchase.  

Property and equipment  

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method with estimated useful lives ranging from three to 
five years. Upon sale or retirement, the cost and related accumulated depreciation or amortization are eliminated from the respective accounts 
and any resulting gain or loss is included in income. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.  

Revenue recognition  

Revenue under long-term, fixed-price contracts generally is accounted for on the percentage-of-completion method, based on contract costs 
incurred to date and estimated costs to complete. Estimated contract earnings are reviewed and revised periodically as the work progresses and 
the cumulative effect of any change is recognized in the period in which the change is determined. Estimated losses are charged against 
earnings in the period such losses are identified. The remaining liability for contract costs to be incurred in excess of contract revenue is 
reflected as accrued contract reserves in the Company's balance sheet. Revenue from sales of other products is recorded when the products are 
shipped. The Company has no significant vendor obligations or collectibility risk associated with its product sales.  

Research and development  

Company sponsored research and development expenditures under contracts accounted for under the percentage of completion method are 
charged to operations as incurred and are included in selling, general and administrative expenses. The amounts incurred for Company 
sponsored research and development activities relating to the development of new products and services or the improvement of existing 
products and services were approximately $1,000 for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  

Warranties  

As the Company recognizes revenue under the percentage of completion method, it provides an accrual for estimated future warranty costs 
based on historical and projected claims experience.  

Income taxes  

Deferred income taxes are provided under the asset and liability method. This method requires recognition of deferred tax liabilities and assets 
for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, 
deferred income taxes are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using 
enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to 
reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized. Income tax expense consists of the Company's current liability for income 
taxes and the change in the Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities.  
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EUROSIM AB  
(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF VATTENFALL ENGINEERING AB)  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Concentration of credit risk  

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of temporary cash investments and 
contract receivables. The Company restricts investments of temporary cash to financial institutions with high credit standing. Credit risk on 
contract receivables is mitigated by its credit policies. The Company's customers are concentrated in Japan and in the energy and 
manufacturing industries. The Company performs credit evaluations before extending credit and may require letters of credit, bank guarantees 
or advance payments. Thereafter, the Company continues to monitor its contract receivables exposure after giving effect to letters of credit, 
bank guarantees, the status of the work performed on the contract and its customers' financial condition.  

Off balance sheet risk and foreign exchange contracts  

Vattenfall Engineering has entered into forward exchange contracts on behalf of the Company as a hedge against certain foreign currency 
commitments. Forward exchange contracts are legal agreements between two parties to purchase and sell different currencies, for a price 
specified at the contract date, with delivery and settlement in the future. The Company uses such contracts to hedge risk of changes in currency 
exchange rates associated with certain assets, liabilities and firm future revenue commitments denominated in a different currency.  

3. CONTRACT RECEIVABLES AND BILLINGS IN EXCESS OF REVENUE EARNED  

Fixed-price contracts generated approximately 100% of total sales for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  

4. DEPRECIATION EXPENSE  

Depreciation expense for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994 was $29,000.  

5. INCOME TAXES  

The provisions (benefit) for income taxes on pre-tax earnings were as follows (in thousands):  
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                                                                           FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                             JANUARY 1, 
                                                                         THROUGH APRIL 13, 
                                                                               1994 
                                                                         ------------------  
Current tax expense (benefit)...................... ...................       $ 122 
Deferred tax expense (benefit)..................... ...................          -- 
                                                                             ----- 
                                                                             $ 122 
                                                                             ===== 



EUROSIM AB  
(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF VATTENFALL ENGINEERING AB)  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

The provision for income taxes varies from the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable domestic statutory tax rate to pre-
tax income as a result of the following:  

 

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the 
financial statements.  

6. RETIREMENT PLANS  

The Company employees are covered by compulsory and voluntary pension plans. The amount paid by the Company was $18,000 for the 
period January 1, 1994 to April 13, 1994.  

7. RENT EXPENSE  

Rent expense totaled $47,000 for the period from January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

The components of allocated expenses included in the Company's statement of operations are as follows (in thousands):  

 

9. RESTRICTION ON RETAINED EARNINGS  

Under the provisions of the Swedish Companies Act a legal reserve must be established in an amount equal to 20% of the share capital. This 
reserve is established by appropriating 10% of the statutory net income each year until the prescribed amount has been appropriated. The legal 
reserve may be used to absorb deficit, but usually may not be distributed as dividends.  
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                                                                          FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                            JANUARY 1, 
                                                                        THROUGH APRIL 13,  
                                                                              1994 
                                                                        -----------------  
Statutory tax rate................................. ...................          28% 
Effective tax rate................................. ...................          28% 
                                                                                === 

                                                                                    FOR THE PERIOD 
                                                                                      JANUARY 1, 
                                                                                  THROUGH APRIL 13,  
                                                                                         1994 
                                                                                  -----------------  
Overhead and general and administrative expenses... ...........................         $   82 
Interest income (expense), net..................... ...........................             42 
                                                                                        ----- 
     Total                                                                             $   40 
                                                                                        ===== 



EUROSIM AB  
(FORMERLY A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF VATTENFALL ENGINEERING AB)  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

10. GEOGRAPHIC AND MAJOR CUSTOMER INFORMATION  

The Company earns a significant portion of its revenue from contracts in Japan, although it has no operations in that country. Revenues from 
these Japanese contracts totaled $1,565,000 for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994.  

The Company earned revenues of $1,134,000 from one customer during the period January 1 through April 13, 1994.  

11. FORMATION OF GSE SYSTEMS, INC.  

On April 13, 1994, the parent companies of the Company, Simulation, Systems & Services Technologies Company and GP International 
Engineering & Simulation, Inc. consolidated the operations of these subsidiaries into a new company, GSE Systems, Inc.  
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC.  
FORM 10-K  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996  

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.  

None.  
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC.  
FORM 10-K  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996  

PART III  

The information required in response to Items 10, 11, 12 and 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to the information under the captions 
"Election of Directors", "Principal Executive Officers of the Company Who Are Not Also Directors", "Executive Compensation", "Voting 
Securities and Principal Stockholders", "Security Ownership of Management", and "Certain Related Transactions" in the Proxy Statement for 
the Company's 1997 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.  
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC.  

FORM 10-K  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996  

PART IV  

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, A ND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.  

(a)(1) List of Financial Statements  

The following financial statements are included in item 8:  

GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

Report of Independent Accountants  
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1996 and 1995 Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 
1996 and 1995 and for the period April 14, 1994 through December 31, 1994 Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) for the 
years ended December 31, 1995 and 1996 and for the period April 14, 1994 through December 31, 1994  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 and the period April 14, 1994 through December 31, 
1994 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

SIMULATION, SYSTEMS & SERVICES TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY  AND MSHI, INC.  

Report of Independent Accountants  
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994  
Consolidated Statement of Stockholder's Equity for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994  
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

GP INTERNATIONAL ENGINEERING & SIMULATION, INC.  

Report of Independent Accountants  
Statement of Operations for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994  
Statement of Stockholder's Deficit for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994  
Statement of Cash Flows for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994  
Notes to Financial Statements  

EUROSIM AB  

Report of Independent Accountants  
Statement of Operations for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994  
Statement of Stockholder's Equity for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994  
Statement of Cash Flows for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994 Notes to Financial Statements  

(a)(2) List of Schedules  

All other schedules to the consolidated financial statements are omitted as the required information is either inapplicable or presented in the 
consolidated financial statements or related notes.  

(a)(3) List of Exhibits  

The Exhibits which are filed with this report or which are incorporated by reference are set forth in the Exhibit Index hereto.  

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:  

No reports on Form 8-K were filed during the quarter ended December 31, 1996.  
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

GSE Systems, Inc.  

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and 
on the dates indicated.  
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By:  /s/   William E. Kuhlmann 
     -------------------------------- 
           WILLIAM E. KUHLMANN 
          Chairman of the Board, 
       and Chief Executive Officer 

                SIGNATURES                                             TITLE                                 DATE 
                ----------                                             -----                                 ---- 
 
/s/        WILLIAM E. KUHLMANN                   Ch airman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer 
------------------------------------                       (Principal Executive Officer) 
           WILLIAM E. KUHLMANN                                                                              March 31, 1997 
 
 
 
 
 
/s/       MICHAEL J. CROMWELL III                    Vice-Chairman of Board of and Senior Vice-Preside nt     March 31, 1997 
------------------------------------                    (Principle Financial and Accounting Officer) 
          MICHAEL J. CROMWELL III 
 
 
 
/s/        ROLF M.G. FALKENBERG                                Director and President                        March 31, 1997 
------------------------------------ 
           ROLF M.G. FALKENBERG 
 
 
 
/s/        EUGENE D. LOVERIDGE                            Director and Senior Vice-President                 March 31, 1997 
------------------------------------ 
           EUGENE D. LOVERIDGE 
 
 
 
/s/        LARS-GORAN MEJVIK                               Director and Senior Vice President                 March 31, 1997  
------------------------------------ 
           LARS-GORAN MEJVIK 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC.  

FORM 10-K  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996  

 
27  

                SIGNATURES                                             TITLE                                 DATE 
                ----------                                             -----                                 ---- 
 
 
/s/     HANS I. EBENFELT                                            Director                          March 31, 1997  
---------------------------------- 
        HANS I. EBENFELT 
 
 
 
/s/     JEROME I. FELDMAN                                           Director                          March 31, 1997  
---------------------------------- 
        JEROME I. FELDMAN 
 
 
 
/s/     SHELDON L. GLASHOW                                          Director                          March 31, 1997  
---------------------------------- 
        SHELDON L. GLASHOW 
 
 
 
/s/     DAVID E. JEREMIAH                                           Director                          March 31, 1997  
---------------------------------- 
        DAVID E. JEREMIAH 
 
 
 
/s/     GEORGE J. PEDERSEN                                          Director                          March 31, 1997  
---------------------------------- 
        GEORGE J. PEDERSEN 
 
 
 
/s/     MARTIN M. POLLAK                                            Director                          March 31, 1997  
---------------------------------- 
        MARTIN M. POLLAK 
 
 
 
/s/     SYLVAN SCHEFLER                                             Director                          March 31, 1997  
---------------------------------- 
        SYLVAN SCHEFLER 
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EXHIBIT INDEX  

The following exhibits are either filed herewith or have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are referred to and 
incorporated by reference.  
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EXHIBIT 
NUMBER     NOTE   DESCRIPTION 
------     ----   ----------- 
   2.1      (5)   Agreement and Plan of Reorganizat ion dated as of May 17, 1996 by and among GSE Syste ms, 
                  Inc., GSE Erudite Software, Inc.,  Erudite Software and Consulting, Inc., Eugene 
                  Loveridge, Daniel Masterson, Doug las Austin, Gary Gray and Dennis Fairclough effecti ve May 21, 1996. 
 
   2.2      (5)   Agreement and Plan of Merger date d as of May 17, 1996 by and between Erudite Softwar e and 
                  Consulting, Inc. effective May 22 , 1996. 
 
   3.1      (1)   Second Amended and Restated Certi ficate of Incorporation of the Company 
 
   3.2      (2)   Form of Amended and Restated Byla ws of the Company 
 
   4.1      (3)   Specimen Common Stock Certificate  of the Company 
 
  10.1      (1)   Agreement among ManTech Internati onal Corporation, National Patent Development Corpo ration, 
                  GPS Technologies, Inc., General P hysics Corporation, Vattenfall Engineering AB and G SE Systems, Inc. 
                  (dated as of April 13, 1994) 
 
  10.2      (1)   Asset Purchase Agreement among Te xas Instruments Incorporated, GSE Systems, Inc. and  
                  GSE Process Solutions, Inc. conce rning the Process Systems Business of Texas Instrum ents Incorporated 
                  (dated as of December 28, 1994) 
 
  10.3      (3)   Form of Employment Agreement betw een William E. Kuhlmann and GSE Systems, Inc. 
 
  10.4      (3)   Form of Employment Agreement betw een Rolf M. G. Falkenberg and GSE Systems, Inc. 
 
  10.5      (3)   Form of Employment Agreement betw een Robert W. Stroup and GSE Systems, Inc. 
 
  10.6      (3)   Form of Employment Agreement betw een Chian-Li Jen and GSE Systems, Inc. 
 
  10.8      (6)   GSE Systems, Inc. 1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended as of February 12, 1997.  
 
  10.9      (4)   Form of Option Agreement Under th e GSE Systems, Inc. 1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan 
 
 10.10      (2)   Letter of Credit, Loan and Securi ty Agreement among Maryland National Bank (now Nati onsBank, N.A.), 
                  MSHI, Inc., and Simulation, Syste ms & Services Technologies Company (dated as of Mar ch 17, 1994 and 
                  amended as of June 29, 1994 and A pril 27, 1995) 
 
 10.11      (2)   Letter of Credit, Loan and Securi ty Agreement among NationsBank, N.A., MSHI, Inc., a nd Simulation, 
                  Systems & Services Technologies C ompany (dated as of September 29, 1994) 
 
 10.12      (2)   Letter of Credit, Loan and Securi ty Agreement between CoreStates Bank, N.A. and GSE Process 
                  Solutions, Inc. (dated as of Janu ary 31, 1995) 
 
 10.13      (4)   Amended and Restated Letter of Cr edit, Loan and Security Agreement between CoreState s Bank, N.A. 
                  and GSE Process Solutions, Inc. ( dated as of October 13, 1995 and as amended as of F ebruary 23, 1996) 
 
 10.14      (4)   Letter of Credit, Loan and Securi ty Agreement among CoreStates Bank, N.A., MSHI, Inc ., and Simulation, 
                  Systems & Services Technologies C ompany (dated as of January 30, 1996) 
 
 10.15      (1)   Amended and Restated Lease Agreem ent between CCP Development Limited  Partnership No . 7 and Simulation,  
                  Systems & Services Technologies C ompany (dated as of January 27, 1993) 
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(1) Previously filed in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Form S-1 Registration Statement as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on April 24, 1995 and incorporated herein by reference.  

(2) Previously filed in connection with Amendment No. 1 to the GSE Systems, Inc. Form S-1 Registration Statement as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 14, 1995 and incorporated herein by reference.  

(3) Previously filed in connection with Amendment No. 3 to the GSE Systems, Inc. Form S-1 Registration Statement as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on July 24, 1995 and incorporated herein by reference.  

(4) Previously filed in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 22, 
1996 and incorporated herein by reference.  

(5) Previously filed in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Forms 8-K and 8-K-A as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
June 5, 1996 and June 13, 1996, respectively, and incorporated herein by reference.  

(6) Filed herewith.  
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EXHIBIT 
NUMBER            DESCRIPTION 
------            ----------- 
 10.16      (5)   Employment Agreement dated as of May 17, 1996 by and between GSE Systems, Inc. and E ugene Loveridge 
                  effective May 22, 1996 
 
 10.17      (5)   Employment Agreement dated as of May 17, 1996 by and between GSE Systems, Inc. and D aniel Masterson 
                  effective May 22, 1996 
 
 10.18      (6)   Employment Agreement dated as of May 2, 1996 by and between EuroSim AB and Lars-Gora n Mejvik effective  
                  July 1, 1996. 
 
  11.1      (6)   Statement regarding computation o f earnings per share 
 
  21.1      (6)   Subsidiaries of Registrant 
 
  23.1      (6)   Consent of Independent Accountant s 
 
  24.1      (6)   Power of Attorney for Directors' and Officers' Signatures on SEC Form 10-K 
 
  99.1      (3)   Form of Right of First Refusal Ag reement 
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC.  
1995 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN  
(As Amended through February 12, 1997)  

1. DEFINITIONS  

In this Plan, except where the context otherwise indicates, the following definitions apply:  

1.1. "Agreement" means a written agreement implementing an Award.  

1.2. "Award" means a grant of an Option or Right or an award of Restricted Stock or Incentive Shares.  

1.3. "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Corporation.  

1.4. "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  

1.5. "Committee" means the committee or subcommittee of the Board meeting the standards of Rule 16b-3(d)(1) under the Exchange Act and 
Treasury Regulations: Section 1.162-27(e)(3), or any similar successor rule or regulation, as may be appointed by the Board to administer the 
Plan. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, the Compensation Committee of the Board shall be the Committee.  

1.6. "Common Stock" means the common stock, par value $.01 per share, of the Corporation.  

1.7. "Corporation" means GSE Systems, Inc.  

1.8. "Date of Exercise" means the date on which the Corporation receives notice of the exercise of an Option or Right in accordance with the 
terms of Article 9.  

1.9. "Date of Grant" means the date on which an Option or Right is granted or Restricted Stock or Incentive Shares are awarded under the Plan. 

1.10. "Director" means a member of the Board of the Corporation or any Subsidiary.  

1.11. "Employee" means any employee of the Corporation or a Subsidiary, including an Employee Director or any person who has been hired 
to be an employee of the Corporation or a Subsidiary, and any consultant or advisor to the Corporation who is not a Director and who renders 
bona fide services to the Corporation or a Subsidiary other than services in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital raising 
transaction.  

1.12. "Employee Director" means a Director who is also an Employee.  
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1.13. "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

1.14. "Fair Market Value" means the amount equal to the closing sales price for a Share, on the date such fair market value is to be determined 
(or if there is no sale of Shares on such date, the closing sales price on the nearest trading date preceding such date), in the principal trading 
market for the Shares as reported by such source as the Committee may select, or, if such price quotations of the Common Stock are not then 
reported, then the fair market value of a Share as determined by the Committee pursuant to a reasonable method adopted in good faith for such 
purpose.  

1.15. "Grantee" means an Employee to whom Restricted Stock has been awarded pursuant to Article 10 or Incentive Shares have been awarded 
pursuant to Article 11.  

1.16. "Incentive Shares" means Shares awarded under the Plan pursuant to the provisions of Article 11.  

1.17. "Incentive Stock Option" means an Option granted under the Plan that qualifies as an incentive stock option under section 422 of the 
Code and that the Corporation designates as such in the Agreement granting the Option.  

1.18. "Independent Director" means a Director who is not an "Employee Director".  

1.19. "Independent Director" means that portion of the Plan under which grants are made to Independent Directors.  

1.20. "Nonstatutory Stock Option" means an Option granted under the Plan that is not an Incentive Stock Option.  

1.21. "Option" means an option to purchase Shares granted under the Plan in accordance with the terms of Article 6 or Article 7.  

1.22. "Option Period" means the period during which an Option may be exercised.  

1.23. "Option Price" means the price per Share at which an Option may be exercised. The Option Price shall be determined by the Committee 
and shall not be less than the Fair Market Value determined as of the Date of Grant, except that in the case of Nonstatutory Stock Options 
granted on or prior to the thirtieth day after consummation of the Corporation's initial public offering of Common Stock (the "IPO"), the Option 
Price shall not be less than the initial public offering price of a Share in connection with the IPO. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of 
an Incentive Stock Option granted to an Optionee who (applying the rules of Section 424(d) of the Code) owns stock possessing more than ten 
percent of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Corporation or a Subsidiary (a "Ten-Percent Stockholder"), the Option 
Price shall not be less than one hundred and ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value on the Date of Grant.  
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1.24. "Optionee" means an Employee or Director to whom an Option or Right has been granted.  

1.25. "Performance Goals" means performance goals established by the Committee which may be based on earnings or earnings growth, sales, 
return on assets, equity or investment, regulatory compliance, satisfactory internal or external audits, improvement of financial ratings, 
achievement of balance sheet or income statement objectives, or any other objective goals established by the Committee, and may be absolute 
in their terms or measured against or in relationship to other companies comparably, similarly or otherwise situated. Such performance 
standards may be particular to an employee or the department, branch, Subsidiary or other division in which he or she works, or may be based 
on the performance of the Corporation generally, and may cover such period as may be specified by the Committee.  

1.26. "Plan" means the GSE Systems, Inc. 1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan.  

1.27. "Related Option" means the Option in connection with which, or by amendment to which, a specified Right is granted.  

1.28. "Related Right" means the Right granted in connection with, or by amendment to, a specified Option.  

1.29. "Restricted Stock" means Shares awarded under the Plan pursuant to the provisions of Article 10.  

1.30. "Right" means a stock appreciation right granted under the Plan in accordance with the terms of Article 8.  

1.31. "Right Period" means the period during which a Right may be exercised.  

1.32. "Rule 16b-3" means Rule 16b-3 under Section 16 of the Exchange Act (or any successor rule).  

1.33. "Share" means a share of Common Stock.  

1.34. "Subsidiary" means a corporation at least 50% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of which is owned by the 
Corporation, either directly or through one or more other Subsidiaries.  

2. PURPOSE  

The Plan is intended to assist the Corporation and its Subsidiaries in attracting and retaining Employees and Independent Directors of 
outstanding ability and to promote the identification of their interests with those of the stockholders of the Corporation.  
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3. ADMINISTRATION  

The Committee shall administer the Plan and shall have plenary authority, in its discretion, to award Options, Rights, Restricted Stock and 
Incentive Shares to Employees and Independent Directors, subject to the provisions of the Plan. The Committee shall have plenary authority 
and discretion, subject to the provisions of the Plan, to determine the terms of all Awards (which terms need not be identical) to Employees, 
including, but not limited to, the exercise price of Options, the time or times at which Awards are made, the number of Shares covered by 
Awards, whether an Option shall be an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option, and the period during which Options and 
Rights may be exercised and Restricted Stock shall be subject to restrictions. In making these determinations, the Committee may take into 
account the nature of the services rendered by the Award recipients, their present and potential contributions to the success of the Corporation 
and its Subsidiaries, and such other factors as the Committee in its discretion shall deem relevant. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the 
Committee shall have plenary authority to interpret the Plan, to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to it and to make all 
other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan. The determinations of the Committee on the matters 
referred to in this Article 3 shall be binding and final.  

4. ELIGIBILITY  

Options, Rights, Restricted Stock and Incentive Shares may be granted or awarded only to Employees, provided, however, that Independent 
Directors may receive Nonstatutory Stock Options in accordance with the provisions of Article 7.  

5. STOCK SUBJECT TO THE PLAN  

5.1. The maximum number of Shares that may be issued under the Plan is 625,000 Shares. The maximum number of Shares with respect to 
which an Employee may receive Awards under the Plan is 100,000.  

5.2. If an Option or Right expires or terminates for any reason (other than termination by virtue of the exercise of a Related Option or Related 
Right, as the case may be) without having been fully exercised, if Shares of Restricted Stock are forfeited or if Incentive Shares are not issued 
or are forfeited, the unissued or forfeited Shares which had been subject to the Award shall become available for the grant of additional 
Awards.  

5.3. Upon exercise of a Right (regardless of whether the Right is settled in cash or Shares), the number of Shares with respect to which the 
Right is exercised shall be charged against the number of Shares issuable under the Plan and shall not become available for the grant of other 
Awards.  
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6. OPTIONS  

6.1. Options granted under the Plan to Employees shall be either Incentive Stock Options or Nonstatutory Stock Options, as designated by the 
Committee. Each Option granted under the Plan shall be clearly identified either as a Nonstatutory Stock Option or an Incentive Stock Option 
and shall be evidenced by an Agreement that specifies the terms and conditions of the grant. Options granted to Employees shall be subject to 
the terms and conditions set forth in this Article 6 and such other terms and conditions not inconsistent with this Plan as the Committee may 
specify. All Incentive Stock Options granted under the Plan shall comply with the provisions of the Code governing incentive stock options and 
with all other applicable rules and regulations.  

6.2. The Option Period for Options granted to Employees shall be determined by the Committee and specifically set forth in the Agreement, 
provided, however, that an Option shall not be exercisable after ten years (five years in the case of an Incentive Stock Option granted to a Ten-
Percent Stockholder) from its Date of Grant.  

6.3. The Committee, in its discretion, may provide in an Agreement for the right of the Optionee to surrender to the Corporation an Option (or a 
portion thereof) that has become exercisable and to receive upon such surrender, without any payment to the Corporation (other than required 
tax withholding amounts) that number of Shares (equal to the highest whole number of Shares) having an aggregate fair market value as of the 
date of surrender equal to that number of Shares subject to the Option (or portion thereof) being surrendered multiplied by an amount equal to 
the excess of (i) the Fair Market Value on the date of surrender over (ii) the Option Price, plus an amount of cash equal to the fair market value 
of any fractional Share to which the Optionee would be entitled but for the parenthetical above relating to whole number of Shares. Any such 
surrender shall be treated as the exercise of the Option (or portion thereof).  

7. INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR PROGRAM  

7.1. The Independent Director Program shall be a formula plan under which Independent Directors shall be granted Nonstatutory Stock 
Options, but only in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Article 7.  

7.2. Nonstatutory Stock Options shall be granted to Independent Directors as follows:  

(i) Each person who becomes an Independent Director within 30 days after consummation of the IPO shall be granted on the date such person 
first becomes a Director, which shall be the Date of Grant, a Nonstatutory Stock Option to purchase 1,500 Shares at an Option Price equal to 
the initial public offering price of a Share in connection with the IPO;  

(ii) Each person who becomes an Independent Director after the 30th day following  
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consummation of the IPO shall be granted on the date such person first becomes an Independent Director, which shall be the Date of Grant, a 
Nonstatutory Stock Option to purchase 1,500 Shares at an Option Price equal to the Fair Market Value on the Date of Grant; and  

(iii) Commencing on December 31, 1995, and on the annual anniversary thereof, each Independent Director shall be granted a Nonstatutory 
Stock Option to purchase 1,500 Shares at an Option Price equal to the Fair Market Value on such date, which date shall be the Date of Grant; 
provided that if any Independent Director has served as a Director for less than a full year as of such Date of Grant, the Nonstatutory Stock 
Option granted to such Director on such Date of Grant shall be for the number of Shares (rounded to the nearest whole Share) equal to 1,500 
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of days such person has served as a Director and the denominator of 
which shall be 365.  

7.3. Nonstatutory Stock Options granted under this Article 7 shall vest in three installments on the first, second and third annual anniversaries 
of the Date of Grant with 40% thereof vesting on the first such anniversary and 30% thereof vesting on each of the second and third such 
anniversaries, and may be exercised by the Optionee at any time after vesting and prior to the termination of the Nonstatutory Stock Option. 
Nonstatutory Stock Options granted pursuant to this Article 7 shall terminate upon the earlier to occur of  
(i) 10 years from the Date of Grant or (ii) one year from the date on which such Optionee ceases to be a member of the Board or, if such 
Optionee ceases to be a member of the Board by reason of retirement, disability, death or removal from such position without cause, five years 
from the date on which such Optionee ceases to be a member of the Board. Nonstatutory Stock Options granted under this Article 7 are not 
transferable except to the extent provided in Article 12. Exercise of Nonstatutory Stock Options granted under this Article 7 may be made only 
in writing delivered to the Corporation accompanied by payment of the Option Price in cash or Shares in accordance with Section 9.1.  

7.4. If on any Date of Grant of Nonstatutory Stock Options to Independent Directors there is an insufficient number of Shares available for 
such grants to Independent Directors, the number of Shares subject to each grant shall be reduced to the greatest whole number of Shares 
arrived at by dividing the remaining Shares available for such grants by the number of Independent Directors eligible for such grants.  

7.5. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7.3, an Option granted pursuant to this Article 7 may be exercised in full upon a Change of 
Control. For purposes of this Section 7.5, a "Change of Control" shall be deemed to have occurred if after the Date of Grant for such Option (i) 
any person or group of persons (as defined in Section 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) together with its affiliates, excluding employee 
benefit plans of the Corporation, becomes, directly or indirectly, the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of 
securities of the Corporation representing 20% or more of the combined voting power of the Corporation's then outstanding securities; or (ii) as 
a result of a tender offer or exchange offer for the purchase of securities of the Corporation (other than such an offer by the Corporation for its 
own securities), or as a result of a proxy contest, merger, consolidation or sale of assets, or as a result of any combination of the foregoing, 
individuals who at the beginning of any two-year period constitute the Board, plus new directors of the Corporation whose election or 
nomination for election by the Corporation's stockholders is approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the Directors still in office who were 
Directors at  
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the beginning of such two-year period, cease for any reason during such two-year period to constitute at least two-thirds of the members of the 
Board; or (iii) the stockholders of the Corporation approve a merger or consolidation of the Corporation with any other corporation or entity 
regardless of which entity is the survivor, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Corporation 
outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or being converted into voting securities of the 
surviving entity) at least 66 2/3% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Corporation or such surviving entity outstanding 
immediately after such merger or consolidation; or  
(iv) the stockholders of the Corporation approve a plan of complete liquidation or winding-up of the Corporation or an agreement for the sale 
or disposition by the Corporation of all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets.  

8. RIGHTS  

8.1. Rights granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by an Agreement specifying the terms and conditions of the grant. A Right may be 
granted under the Plan:  

(i) in connection with, and at the same time as, the grant of an Option under the Plan;  

(ii) by amendment of an outstanding Option granted under the Plan; or  

(iii) independently of any Option granted under the Plan.  

A Right granted under clause (i) or (ii) of the preceding sentence is a Related Right. A Related Right may, in the Committee's discretion, apply 
to all or a portion of the Shares subject to the Related Option.  

8.2. A Right may be exercised in whole or in part as provided in the applicable Agreement, and, subject to the terms of the Agreement, entitles 
its Optionee to receive, without payment to the Corporation (but subject to required tax withholding), either cash or that number of Shares 
(equal to the highest whole number of Shares), or a combination thereof, in an amount or having a fair market value determined as of the Date 
of Exercise not to exceed the number of Shares subject to the portion of the Right exercised multiplied by an amount equal to the excess of (i) 
the Fair Market Value on the Date of Exercise of the Right over (ii) either (A) the Fair Market Value on the Date of Grant of the Right if it is 
not a Related Right, or (B) the Option Price as provided in the Related Option if the Right is a Related Right.  

8.3. The Right Period shall be determined by the Committee and specifically set forth in the Agreement, subject to the following conditions:  

(i) a Right will expire no later than the earlier of (A) ten years from the Date of Grant, or (B) in the case of a Related Right, the expiration of 
the Related Option;  

(ii) a Right may be exercised only when the Fair Market Value on the Date of Exercise  
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exceeds either (A) the Fair Market Value on the Date of Grant of the Right if it is not a Related Right or (B) the Option Price of the Related 
Option if the Right is a Related Right; and  

(iii) a Right that is a Related Right to an Incentive Stock Option may be exercised only when and to the extent the Related Option is 
exercisable.  

8.4. The exercise, in whole or in part, of a Related Right shall cause a reduction in the number of Shares subject to the Related Option equal to 
the number of Shares with respect to which the Related Right is exercised. Similarly, the exercise, in whole or in part, of a Related Option shall 
cause a reduction in the number of Shares subject to the Related Right equal to the number of Shares with respect to which the Related Option 
is exercised.  

8.5. To the extent provided in the Agreement, the Committee shall have sole discretion to consent to or disapprove the election of any Optionee 
to receive cash in full or partial settlement of a Right. In cases where an election of settlement in cash must be consented to by the Committee, 
the Committee may consent to, or disapprove, such election at any time after such election, or within such period for taking action as is 
specified in the election, and failure to give consent shall be disapproval. Consent may be given in whole or as to a portion of the Right 
surrendered by the Optionee. If the election to receive cash is disapproved in whole or in part, the Right shall be deemed to have been exercised 
for Shares, or, if so specified in the notice of exercise and election, not to have been exercised to the extent the election to receive cash is 
disapproved.  

9. EXERCISE OF OPTIONS AND RIGHTS  

9.1. An Option or Right may, subject to the terms of the applicable Agreement under which it was granted, be exercised in whole or in part by 
the delivery to the Corporation of written notice of the exercise, in such form as the Committee may prescribe, accompanied, in the case of an 
Option, by full payment for the Shares with respect to which the Option is exercised. To the extent provided in the applicable Option 
Agreement, payment may be made, in whole or in part, in Shares (other than Restricted Stock) valued at Fair Market Value on the Date of 
Exercise or by delivery of a promissory note as provided in Section 9.2 hereof.  

9.2. To the extent provided in an Option Agreement and permitted by applicable law, the Committee may accept as partial payment of the 
Option Price a promissory note executed by the Optionee evidencing his or her obligation to make future cash payment thereof; provided, 
however, that in no event may the Committee accept a promissory note for an amount in excess of the difference between the aggregate Option 
Price and the par value of the Shares. Promissory notes made pursuant to this Section 9.2 shall be payable upon such terms as may be 
determined by the Committee, shall be secured by a pledge of the Shares received upon exercise of the Option and shall bear interest at a rate 
fixed by the Committee.  
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10. RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS  

10.1. Restricted Stock awards under the Plan shall consist of Shares that are restricted against transfer, subject to forfeiture, and subject to such 
other terms and conditions intended to further the purposes of the Plan as may be determined by the Committee. Such terms and conditions 
may provide, in the discretion of the Committee, for the vesting of such awards to be contingent upon the achievement of one or more specified 
Performance Goals.  

10.2. Restricted Stock awards under the Plan shall be evidenced by Agreements specifying the terms and conditions of the Award. Each 
Agreement evidencing an award of Restricted Stock shall contain the following:  

(i) prohibitions against the sale, assignment, transfer, exchange, pledge, hypothecation, or other encumbrance of (A) the Shares awarded as 
Restricted Stock under the Plan, (B) the right to vote the Shares, and (C) the right to receive dividends thereon, in each case during the 
restriction period applicable to the Shares; provided, however, that the Grantee shall have all the other rights of a stockholder including, but not 
limited to, the right to receive dividends and the right to vote the Shares;  

(ii) a requirement that each certificate representing Shares of Restricted Stock shall be deposited with the Corporation, or its designee, and shall 
bear the following legend:  

"This certificate and the shares of stock represented hereby are subject to the terms and conditions (including the risks of forfeiture and 
restrictions against transfer) contained in the GSE Systems, Inc. 1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan, and an Agreement entered into between the 
registered owner and GSE Systems, Inc. Release from such terms and conditions shall be made only in accordance with the provisions of the 
Plan and the Agreement, a copy of each of which is on file in the office of the Secretary of GSE Systems, Inc."  

(iii) the terms and conditions upon which any restrictions applicable to Shares of Restricted Stock shall lapse and new certificates free of the 
foregoing legend shall be issued to the Grantee or his or her legal representative; and  

(iv) such other terms, conditions and restrictions as the Committee in its discretion may specify including, without limitation, terms that 
condition the lapse of forfeiture and transfer restrictions upon the achievement of Performance Goals.  

10.3. The Committee may include in a Restricted Stock Agreement a requirement that in the event of a Grantee's termination of employment 
for any reason prior to the lapse of restrictions, all Shares of Restricted Stock shall be forfeited by the Grantee to the Corporation without 
payment of any consideration by the Corporation, and neither the Grantee nor any successors, heirs, assigns or personal representatives of the 
Grantee shall thereafter have any further rights or interest in the Shares or certificates.  
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11. INCENTIVE SHARE AWARDS  

11.1. Incentive Shares awarded under the Plan shall be evidenced by an Agreement specifying the terms and conditions of such Award. 
Incentive Share awards shall provide for the issuance of Shares to a Grantee at such times and subject to such terms and conditions as the 
Committee shall deem appropriate including, but not limited to, terms that condition the issuance of Shares upon the achievement of 
Performance Goals.  

12. NONTRANSFERABILITY  

Awards made under this Plan shall not be transferable other than  
(i) by will or the laws of descent and distribution, or (ii) pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order as defined in section 414(p) of the 
Code. An Option or Right may be exercised during the Optionee's lifetime only by the Optionee or, in the event of his or her legal disability, by 
his or her legal representative. A Related Right is transferable only when the Related Option is transferable and only with the Related Option 
and under the same conditions that apply to the Related Option.  

13. CAPITAL ADJUSTMENTS  

In the event of any change in the outstanding Common Stock by reason of any stock dividend, split-up, recapitalization, reclassification, 
combination or exchange of shares, merger, consolidation or liquidation and the like, the Committee may, in its discretion, provide for a 
substitution for or adjustment in (i) the number and class of Shares subject to outstanding Options, Rights, Restricted Stock and Incentive Share 
awards, (ii) the Option Price of Options and the base price upon which payments under Rights that are not Related Rights are determined, and 
(iii) the aggregate number and class of Shares for which Awards thereafter may be made under the Plan and to individual Award recipients. 
The adjustments made with respect to Nonstatutory Stock Options granted pursuant to Article 7 shall be equivalent to the treatment accorded to 
holders of Common Stock.  

14. TERMINATION OR AMENDED  

The Board may amend, alter or terminate the Plan in any respect at any time; provided, however, that, after the Plan has been approved by the 
stockholders of the Corporation, no amendment, alteration or termination of the Plan shall be made by the Board without approval of (i) the 
Corporation's stockholders to the extent stockholder approval of the amendment is required by applicable law or regulations or the 
requirements of the principal exchange or interdealer quotation system on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted, and  
(ii) each affected Optionee or Grantee if such amendment, alteration or termination would adversely affect his or her rights or obligations under 
any Award made prior to the date of such amendment, alteration or termination.  
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15. MODIFICATION, EXTENSION AND RENEWAL OF OPTIONS, RIGHTS, RESTRICTED STOCK AND INCENTIVE SHARES; 
SUBSTITUTED OPTIONS AND RIGHTS  

15.1. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Committee may modify, extend or renew outstanding Options and Rights, or accept 
the surrender of outstanding options and stock appreciation rights (to the extent not theretofore exercised) granted under the Plan or under any 
other plan of the Corporation or a Subsidiary, and authorize the granting of new Options and Rights pursuant to the Plan in substitution therefor 
(to the extent not theretofore exercised), and the substituted Options or Rights may specify a lower exercise price than the surrendered options 
and stock appreciation rights, a longer term than the surrendered options and stock appreciation rights, or have any other provisions that are 
authorized by the Plan. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Committee may modify the terms of any outstanding awards of 
Restricted Stock or Incentive Shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, no modification of an Award shall, without the consent of the 
Optionee or Grantee, alter or impair any of the Optionee's or Grantee's rights or obligations under such Award.  

15.2. Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, Options and Rights may, at the discretion of the Committee, be granted under 
the Plan in substitution for stock appreciation rights and options to purchase shares of capital stock of another corporation which is merged 
into, consolidated with, or all or a substantial portion of the property or stock of which is acquired by, the Corporation or one of its 
Subsidiaries. The terms and conditions of the substitute Options and Rights so granted may vary from the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Plan to such extent as the Committee may deem appropriate (but only to the extent consistent with the requirements of Rule 16b-3) in order to 
conform, in whole or part, to the provisions of the options and stock appreciation rights in substitution for which they are granted. Such 
Options and Rights shall not be counted toward the 100,000 Share limit imposed by the second sentence of Section 5.1, except to the extent it 
is determined by the Committee that the applicability of such sentence is required in order for grants of Options and Rights hereunder to be 
eligible to qualify as "performance-based compensation" within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.  

16. EFFECTIVENESS OF THE PLAN  

The Plan and any amendments requiring stockholder approval pursuant to Article 14 are subject to approval by vote of the stockholders of the 
Corporation within 12 months after their adoption by the Board. Subject to that approval, the Plan and any amendments are effective on the 
date on which they are adopted by the Board. Options, Rights, Restricted Stock and Incentive Shares may be granted or awarded prior to 
stockholder approval of the Plan or amendments, but each such Award shall be subject to the approval of the Plan or amendments by the 
stockholders. The date on which any Option, Right, Restricted Stock or Incentive Shares granted or awarded prior to stockholder approval of 
the Plan or amendment is granted or awarded shall be the Date of Grant for all purposes as if the Option, Right, Restricted Stock or Incentive 
Shares had not been subject to approval. No Option or Right may be exercised prior to such stockholder approval, and any Restricted Stock or 
Incentive Shares awarded shall be forfeited if such stockholder approval is not obtained.  
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17. WITHHOLDING  

The Corporation's obligation to deliver Shares or pay any amount pursuant to the terms of any Award hereunder shall be subject to the 
satisfaction of applicable federal, state and local tax withholding requirements. To the extent provided in the applicable Agreement and in 
accordance with rules prescribed by the Committee, an Optionee or Grantee may satisfy any such withholding tax obligation by any of the 
following means or by a combination of such means: (i) tendering a cash payment, (ii) authorizing the Corporation to withhold Shares 
otherwise issuable to the Optionee or Grantee, or (iii) delivering to the Corporation already owned and unencumbered Shares.  

18. TERM OF THE PLAN  

Unless sooner terminated by the Board pursuant to Article 14, the Plan shall terminate on June 30, 2005, and no Options, Rights, Restricted 
Stock or Incentive Shares may be granted or awarded after such date. The termination of the Plan shall not affect the validity of any Award 
outstanding on the date of termination.  

19. INDEMNIFICATION OF COMMITTEE  

In addition to such other rights of indemnification as they may have as Directors or as members of the Committee, the members of the 
Committee shall be indemnified by the Corporation against the reasonable expenses, including attorneys' fees, actually and reasonably incurred 
in connection with the defense of any action, suit or proceeding, or in connection with any appeal therein, to which they or any of them may be 
a party by reason of any action taken or failure to act under or in connection with the Plan or any Option, Right, Restricted Stock or Incentive 
Shares granted or awarded hereunder, and against all amounts reasonably paid by them in settlement thereof or paid by them in satisfaction of a 
judgment in any such action, suit or proceeding, if such members acted in good faith and in a manner which they believed to be in, and not 
opposed to, the best interests of the Corporation.  

20. GENERAL PROVISIONS  

20.1. The establishment of the Plan shall not confer upon any Employee or Independent Director any legal or equitable right against the 
Corporation, any Subsidiary or the Committee, except as expressly provided in the Plan.  

20.2. The Plan does not constitute inducement or consideration for the employment of any Employee or the service of any Independent 
Director, nor is it a contract between the Corporation or any Subsidiary and any Employee or Independent Director. Participation in the Plan 
shall not give an Employee or Independent Director any right to be retained in the service of the Corporation or any Subsidiary.  
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20.3. Neither the adoption of this Plan nor its submission to the stockholders, shall be taken to impose any limitations on the powers of the 
Corporation or its Subsidiaries to issue, grant, or assume options, warrants, rights, or restricted stock, otherwise than under this Plan, or to 
adopt other stock option or restricted stock plans or to impose any requirement of stockholder approval upon the same.  

20.4. The interests of any Employee or Independent Director under the Plan are not subject to the claims of creditors and may not, in any way, 
be assigned, alienated or encumbered except as provided in Article 12.  

20.5. The Plan shall be governed, construed and administered in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware and the intention of the 
Corporation that Incentive Stock Options granted under the Plan qualify as such under section 422 of the Code.  

20.6. The Committee may require each person acquiring Shares pursuant to Awards hereunder to represent to and agree with the Corporation in 
writing that such person is acquiring the Shares without a view to distribution thereof. The certificates for such Shares may include any legend 
which the Committee deems appropriate to reflect any restrictions on transfer. All certificates for Shares issued pursuant to the Plan shall be 
subject to such stock transfer orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the rules, regulations and other 
requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange upon which the Common Stock is then listed, and any 
applicable federal or state securities laws. The Committee may place a legend or legends on any such certificates to make appropriate reference 
to such restrictions.  

20.7. The Corporation shall not be required to issue any certificate or certificates for Shares with respect to Awards under this Plan, or record 
any person as a holder of record of such Shares, without obtaining, to the complete satisfaction of the Committee, the approval of all regulatory 
bodies deemed necessary by the Committee, and without complying to the Committee's complete satisfaction, with all rules and regulations, 
under federal, state or local law deemed applicable by the Committee.  
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EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT  

EuroSim AB (the "Company") and Lars Goran Mejvik of Lomma, Sweden ("Mr. Mejvik") have made the following employment agreement as 
of 2 May 1996.  

Section 1 POSITION  

Mr. Mejvik will be employed by the Company from 1 July 1996.  

Mr. Mejvik will be responsible for the coordination of the operations of GSE Systems, Inc. ("GSE") in Europe, the Middle East, Africa and the 
Pacific Rim. Mr. Mejvik will be appointed as a senior officer for GSE under a title corresponding to "Senior Vice President" or a similar title as 
mutually agreed.  

Direction and guidelines for Mr. Mejvik's performance of services will be issued by GSE's Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO") and Chief 
Operating Officer ("COO"). Mr. Mejvik will report directly to the COO.  

The employment is valid for an indefinite period.  

The Act (1982:80) on employment security is not applicable for this employment.  

Section 2 OTHER ASSIGNMENTS  

Mr. Mejvik is supposed to devote all his effort to the Company and may not without special permission from the CEO or COO in every 
particular case, take on tasks for the account of others. Such tasks, if any, should be noted in a special supplement to this agreement.  

Mr. Mejvik is obliged to adhere to a strict confidence with business and Company matters which he has received information about through his 
work in the Company.  

Section 3 SALARY  

Mr. Mejvik's fixed salary is SEK 75,000 per month from 1 July 1996. The salary is subject to annual review, normally in connection with the 
salary review for the other executive officers of GSE. So long as the scope of Mr. Mejvik's responsibilities to the company remain substantially 
as  
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provided by this agreement, his salary will not be reduced below the level of SEK 75,000 per month.  

Mr. Mejvik will participate in GSE's incentive bonus award program, which provides for the payment of cash bonuses based on GSE's 
achievements of certain performance goals established by GSE's Board of Directors.  

Section 4 HOLIDAYS  

Mr. Mejvik is entitled to thirty (30) days annual holidays.  

Section 5 COMPANY CAR  

Mr. Mejvik is entitled to a company automobile for private and business use. The automobile shall be of the Volvo 850 class or a comparable 
model.  

Section 6 OTHER BENEFITS  

Mr. Mejvik receives compensation for costs for medical care and medicine which is not compensated for by the social insurance office. 
Compensation will not exceed 40,000 SEK annually.  

The Company supplies a cellular telephone an a fax machine for duty calls away from the office.  

The rules for general employment conditions according to the Company's agreements should be applicable as to sickness benefit, holiday salary 
and savings of holidays.  

Other benefits may be agreed upon in a particular agreement between the CEO and Mr. Mejvik.  

Section 7 BUSINESS JOURNEYS  

For business journeys there will be a compensation according to the Company's travel regulations. However, compensation for travel time will 
not be paid.  
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Section 8 GROUP LIFE INSURANCE  

The group life insurance according to valid agreement for the Company shall be applicable. Mr. Mejvik may, after particular agreement, be 
included in the medical treatment insurance.  

Section 9 PENSION  

The retirement age for Mr. Mejvik is 65 years.  

In addition to the pension benefits according to the law about general insurance, Mr. Mejvik is assured the pension benefits which follows the 
valid pension plan, including the so-called "Alternativ ITP" plan, of the Company.  

From and including the month in which Mr. Mejvik reaches the age of 60, he has the possibility and on the Company's request the obligation, 
to retire prematurely. The party who intends to use the opportunity of an early retirement shall inform the other party about this not less than 12 
months before the intended time for retirement. Early retirement pension should be calculated according to supplement 1.  

Section 10 NOTICE  

This agreement is valid with a term of notice of 6 months from Mr. Mejvik's side and 12 months from the Company's side.  

If Mr. Mejvik is served notice of termination by the Company on or prior to the third anniversary of the commencement date of Mr. Mejvik's 
employment hereunder and if the notice is not a result of Mr. Mejvik seriously neglecting his obligations according to the employment contract, 
Mr. Mejvik is entitled to severance compensation, in addition to his salary during the term of notice, of twelve (12) monthly salaries. The term 
"monthly salary" means the fixed full-time salary the month before the month of notice.  

The CEO has the right during the term of notice or part of it to dismiss Mr. Mejvik from the handling of Company matters.  

During the term of notice the Company may place holidays in accordance with the rules of the holiday act.  

Section 11 DISPUTES  

Disputes because of this condition are submitted to decision according to the law about arbitrators. The  
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expenses for arbitration are to be defrayed by the Company irrespective of the outcome. Any such arbitration shall be conducted in Sweden and 
in accordance with the laws of the Kingdom of Sweden.  

This agreement, which replaces the previous employment agreement dated 1 May 1996, has been issued in two copies, one for each of the 
parties.  

Nykoping, 2 May 1996  
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     /s/   WILLIAM E. KUHLMANN                       /s/   LARS-GORAN MEJVIK 
- -----------------------------------             -------------------------------- 
           William E. Kuhlmann                             Lars-Goran Mejvik 
 
 
     /S/   ROLF M.G. FALKENBERG 
- ----------------------------------- 
            Rolf M.G. Falkenberg 
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SUPPLEMENT 1  

EARLY RETIREMENT PENSION  

Pension before the age of 65 should be calculated as follows:  

Early retirement pension should be 70 percent of the cash fixed full-time salary the month before the resignation. (It may be 75 percent of the 
salary if resignation takes place after having reached the age of 62).  

For early retirement pension there is supplementary pension according to the same rules as for ITP-pension according to the main rule of the 
ITP-plan.  

The pension is to be paid monthly.  

The Company pledges itself to see to it that the general age and family pension benefits according to the ITP-plan is maintained at the level 
valid at the time for resignation from duty.  

The Company decides if the early retirement pension should be paid direct from the Company or via intermediary or be insured.  
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STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF EARNINGS PER SHA RE  
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)  

 

                                                                                                           FOR THE PERIOD  
                                                                                       YEAR ENDED             APRIL 14 
                                                                                       DECEMBER 31,           THROUGH 
                                                                                       -----------          DECEMBER 31, 
                                                                                                            ------------ 
                                                                                    1996           199 5          1994 
                                                                                    ----           --- -          ---- 
 
Net income before preferred dividend............... ........................         $ 4,143       $ 3, 676       $   953 
 
Preferred dividend................................. ........................              --            --           (76) 
                                                                                    -------       ---- ---       ------- 
 
Net income available to common shares.............. ........................         $ 4,143       $ 3, 676       $   877 
                                                                                    =======       ==== ===       ======= 
 
Weighted averaged common shares outstanding........ ........................           5,066         4, 049         3,341 
 
Dilutive effect of common stock equivalents 
    - stock options................................ ........................               7            10            -- 
                                                                                    -------       ---- ---       ------- 
 
Total shares used for earnings per share........... ........................           5,073         4, 059         3,341 
                                                                                    =======       ==== ===       ======= 
 
Earnings per share................................. ........................         $   .82       $   .91       $  0.26 
                                                                                    =======       ==== ===       ======= 
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SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT  

The companies listed below are directly or indirectly owned 100% by GSE Systems Inc. and are included in its consolidated financial 
statements. GS Information Systems FSC Ltd., GSE Systems International Ltd, MSHI, Inc., GSE Power Systems AB and GSE Process 
Solutions, Inc. are wholly owned subsidiaries of GSE Systems, Inc. GP International Engineering & Simulation, Inc. and GSE Services 
Company L.L.C. are wholly owned subsidiaries of GSE Power Systems, Inc. which is a wholly owned subsidiary of MSHI, Inc. GSE Process 
Solutions B.V. is a wholly owned subsidiary of GSE Process Solutions, Inc. GSE Process Solutions Belgium N.V. and GSE Process Solutions 
Singapore (Pte) Limited are wholly owned subsidiaries of GSE Process Solutions B.V.  

 

Name                                                         Jurisdiction of Organization  
----                                                         ----------------------------  
GS Information Systems FSC Ltd.                              Barbados 
 
GSE Systems International Ltd.                               State of Delaware 
 
MSHI, Inc.                                                   State of Virginia 
 
GSE Power Systems, Inc.                                      State of Delaware 
 
GP International Engineering & Simulation, Inc.              State of Delaware 
 
GSE Services Company L.L.C.                                  State of Delaware 
 
GSE Power Systems AB                                         Sweden 
 
GSE Process Solutions, Inc.                                  State of Delaware 
 
GSE Process Solutions B.V.                                   Netherlands 
 
GSE Process Solutions Belgium N.V.                           Belgium 
 
GSE Process Solutions Singapore (Pte) Limited                Singapore 
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement of GSE Systems, Inc. on Form S-8 (File No. 333-08805) of our 
report dated March 21, 1997, on our audit of the consolidated financial statements of GSE Systems, Inc. as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, 
and for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995 and the period April 14, 1994 (date of inception) to December 31, 1994, our report dated 
March 31, 1995, on our audit of the consolidated financial statements of GSE Power Systems, Inc. (formerly Simulation, Systems and Services 
Technologies Company) and its immediate parent company, MSHI, Inc. (formerly wholly-owned subsidiary of ManTech International 
Corporation) for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994, our report dated March 31, 1995, on our audit of the financial statements 
of GP International Engineering & Simulation, Inc., formerly a wholly-owned subsidiary of GPS Technologies, Inc. (now known as SGLG, 
Inc.) for the period January 1, 1994 through April 13, 1994, and our report dated April 21, 1995, on our audit of the financial statements of 
GSE Power Systems AB (formerly EuroSim AB), formerly a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vattenfall Engineering AB, for the period January 1, 
1994 through April 13, 1994, which reports are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Coopers & Lybrand LLP  

Washington D.C.  

March 31, 1997  
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC.  
8930 Stanford Blvd.  

Columbia, Maryland 21045  

POWER OF ATTORNEY  

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that the undersigned Officers and Directors of GSE Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby 
constitute and appoint Robert W. Stroup and Thomas K. Milhollan, and each of them, the true and lawful agents and attorneys-in-fact of the 
undersigned with full power and authority in said agents and attorneys-in-fact, and in any one or both of them, to sign, for the undersigned and 
in their respective names as Officers and Directors of the Corporation the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Corporation to be filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any amendment or 
amendments to such Annual Report; hereby ratifying and confirming all acts taken by such agents and attorneys-in-fact, or any one or more of 
them, as herein authorized.  

Dated: March 14, 1997  
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                 Name                                                            Title 
                 ----                                                            ----- 
 
  /s/   WILLIAM E. KUHLMANN                                Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive O fficer 
 ------------------------------------- 
        WILLIAM E. KUHLMANN 
 
                                                             Vice Chairman of the Board and Senior Vic e President  
  /s/   MICHAEL J. CROMWELL III                                   (Principle Finance and Accounting Of ficer) 
 ------------------------------------- 
        MICHAEL J. CROMWELL, III 
 
 
 /s/    ROLF M. G. FALKENBERG                                           Director and President 
-------------------------------------- 
        ROLF M. G. FALKENBERG 
 
 
 /s/    EUGENE LOVERIDGE                                           Director and Senior Vice President 
-------------------------------------- 
        EUGENE LOVERIDGE 



GSE SYSTEMS, INC. EXHIBIT 24.1  

FORM 10-K  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996  

 
2  

  /s/   LARS-GORAN MEJVIK                                          Director and Senior Vice President  
 -------------------------------- 
        LARS-GORAN MEJVIK 
 
 
  /s/   HANS I. EBENFELT                                                        Director 
 -------------------------------- 
        HANS I. EBENFELT 
 
 
  /s/   JEROME I. FELDMAN                                                       Director 
 -------------------------------- 
        JEROME I. FELDMAN 
 
 
  /s/   SHELDON L. GLASHOW                                                      Director 
 -------------------------------- 
        SHELDON L. GLASHOW 
 
 
  /s/   DAVID E. JEREMIAH                                                       Director 
--------------------------------- 
        DAVID E. JEREMIAH 
 
 
  /s/   GEORGE J. PEDERSEN                                                      Director 
--------------------------------- 
        GEORGE J. PEDERSEN 
 
 
  /s/   MARTIN M. POLLAK                                                        Director 
--------------------------------- 
        MARTIN M. POLLAK 
 
 
  /s/   SYLVAN SCHEFLER                                                         Director 
 -------------------------------- 
        SYLVAN SCHEFLER 
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ARTICLE 5 

MULTIPLIER: 1,000 

PERIOD TYPE YEAR 
FISCAL YEAR END DEC 31 1996 
PERIOD START JAN 01 1996 
PERIOD END DEC 31 1996 
CASH 2,450 
SECURITIES 0 
RECEIVABLES 27,755 
ALLOWANCES 298 
INVENTORY 3,538 
CURRENT ASSETS 37,600 
PP&E 5,318 
DEPRECIATION 0 
TOTAL ASSETS 51,006 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 23,733 
BONDS 0 
PREFERRED MANDATORY 0 
PREFERRED 0 
COMMON 50 
OTHER SE 24,643 
TOTAL LIABILITY AND EQUITY 51,006 
SALES 96,003 
TOTAL REVENUES 96,003 
CGS 63,379 
TOTAL COSTS 63,379 
OTHER EXPENSES 27,509 
LOSS PROVISION (239) 
INTEREST EXPENSE 387 
INCOME PRETAX 4,852 
INCOME TAX 709 
INCOME CONTINUING 4,143 
DISCONTINUED 0 
EXTRAORDINARY 0 
CHANGES 0 
NET INCOME 4,143 
EPS PRIMARY 0.82 
EPS DILUTED 0.82 


